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Wednesday, May 27, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in EB-2014-0213, an application brought by Hydro One Inc. under section 86(2)(b) of the Ontario Energy Board Act for leave to purchase all the issued and outstanding shares of Woodstock Hydro Holding Inc.

Applications have also been brought by Woodstock Hydro Services Inc. for leave to transfer its distribution licence to Hydro One Networks Inc. under section 86(1)(a) of the act, a request to include a rate rider in the 2014 rate schedule of Woodstock Hydro Services Inc., to give effect to a one percent reduction in relation to 2014 base rates, pursuant to section 78 of the act, and leave to transfer Woodstock Hydro Services Inc.'s distribution licence and rate order to Hydro One Networks Inc. pursuant to section 18 of the act.

A day of oral hearing took place on January 15th.  We are now resuming.

On May 11th Hydro One wrote to the Board seeking to amend its applications to reflect the policy amendments made through the Board's EB-2014-0138 proceeding with respect to ratemaking associated with distributor consolidated transactions.

By letter May 20th the Board requested that Hydro One file evidence in order that the Board could be in a position to deliberate on the requested relief.  On May 22nd, Hydro One filed amended application material.

My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding in this matter.  Along with me are my colleagues, Cathy Spoel and Ellen Fry.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  It is Gord Nettleton.  I am counsel for Hydro One Networks Inc. and Hydro One Inc.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton, good morning.

MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning.

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Mark Rodger, appearing as counsel to Woodstock Hydro and the city of Woodstock.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, good morning.

MR. HARDING:  Michael Harding from Concerned Citizens Against the Sale of Woodstock Hydro.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Harding, good morning.

MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, counsel with the Board, and with me I have Judith Fernandez, who is the case manager, and Jane Scott, who is also with Board Staff.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Before we begin, Mr. Nettleton, are there any preliminary issues that you wish to deal with?


Preliminary Matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have one preliminary matter, but it really relates to a clarification to a question that was given by my witnesses to Mr. Shepherd.  I think it would probably be best to deal with that after the witnesses are resworn and empanelled.

MS. LONG:  Okay, well, let's do that.  We're just going to pause for one moment before we swear your witnesses, thank you.

[Board Panel confer]


MS. LONG:  We seem to be without our sheet in order to swear the witnesses.  I am wondering if somebody can go to the west hearing room and get a copy of that.

MS. HELT:  Certainly.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton, do you have an extra copy of the material that you filed, the application package?

MR. NETTLETON:  The amended application package?

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Let me check.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.  Okay, gentlemen on the panel, if you could stand up, please.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed


Richard J. Bertolo; Previously Affirmed.

Ryan Lee; Previously Affirmed.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton, is it your intention to have Mr. Bertolo and Mr. Lee adopt the evidence that you are filing?

MR. NETTLETON:  It is, and I can ask those questions if you would like again, now that they're sworn?

MS. LONG:  That would be helpful, thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sure.  Gentlemen, the record in this proceeding is one that you are familiar with, correct?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. LEE:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the evidence that has been filed in this proceeding by Hydro One is before you?  Correct, Mr. Bertolo?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lee?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And gentlemen, can you confirm that the evidence that Hydro One has prepared and filed in this proceeding was prepared by you or under your direction and control, starting with you, Mr. Bertolo?

MR. BERTOLO:  It was.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  It was.

MR. NETTLETON:  And gentlemen, do either of you have corrections or revisions to make to that evidence?

MR. BERTOLO:  Not at this time.

MR. LEE:  I do not.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And therefore, Mr. Bertolo, is that evidence that's been filed in this proceeding by Hydro One accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. BERTOLO:  It is.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  It is.

MR. NETTLETON:  And Mr. Bertolo, can you confirm that you are appearing today as the policy witness for Hydro One?

MR. BERTOLO:  I am.

MR. NETTLETON:  And can you, therefore, adopt the evidence that has been filed by Hydro One in your capacity as the policy witness and as the director of value growth for Hydro One?

MR. BERTOLO:  I can.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  And Mr. Lee, can you just for the record, again, remind the Panel of your position at Hydro One?

MR. LEE:  Sure.  I am the director of management accounting and reporting for Hydro One.

MR. NETTLETON:  And Mr. Lee, can you then adopt the evidence as well in this proceeding that's been filed by Hydro One?

MR. LEE:  I can.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

Now, Mr. Lee, at page 149 of the transcript, you were having a discussion with Mr. Shepherd, and at line 23 you responded to his question, which was asked as a subject to check.  Do you have that part of the transcript in front of you?

MR. LEE:  I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  And have you had occasion to check with respect to the answer that you provided?

MR. LEE:  Yes, I did.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you have any further elaboration that you would like to make to that answer?

MR. LEE:  Yes, I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  Please provide it.

MR. LEE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

So as we discussed, the Hydro One -- sorry, the Woodstock Hydro CDM results noted in page 149 to 154 of the transcripts, the discussions centred around the Woodstock Hydro's achievement of the 177 percent.  So as part of my subject to check, I discovered the nature of the Woodstock's achievements and that approximately 50 percent of that achievement related to pre-2011 programs.  This equates to about 85 of the 177 basis points.

After further correspondence with Woodstock Hydro, we understand that the bulk of these savings related to pre-2011 programs.  These projects were initiated prior to the 2011 to '14 CDM term, but happened to complete in 2011, which was the first year of reporting.

For example, one single large project, the GM warehouse lighting retrofit, accounted for the vast majority of these savings.  And based on the cumulative reporting requirements, these savings were then counted annually four times.  So Woodstock Hydro got the credit for it in 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014.

So that explains the 177 percent achievement, a single large pre-2011 industrial project and the cumulative reporting effect of a front-end project.

The WHSI results are heavily weighted on commercial and industrial CDM initiatives given the nature of the Woodstock Service Territory.  There will be benefits of incorporating some of the Hydro One residential focussed programs, so that they are available to these types of customers.

As Mr. Bertolo stated in his testimony, that is part of the rationalization process; they would get the best of both worlds.  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Lee.

Madam Chair, the panel is now available for any further cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

Mr. Shepherd, are you prepared to proceed to continue your cross-examination?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  We have your compendium, K2.  Is there anything else that you are going to be relying on?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I provided copies of the policy, the 0138 policy, which I am going to refer to extensively today.

I do have a preliminary matter, though.

MS. LONG:  We will get to that.  I just want to get a copy of this first.  We are going to mark this as an exhibit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses have copies of this policy?

MS. HELT:  Do the witnesses have a copy?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Bertolo, Mr. Lee you do?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. LEE:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Exhibit K2.1.  That is the report of Board, Ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation, EB-2014-0138.
 EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  report of Board, Ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation, EB-2014-0138

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I would like to ask, through you, when Hydro One knew that their evidence on page 149 of the transcript was incorrect.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Madam Chair, I'm not sure there was any incorrectness.  It was a question that Mr. Shepherd asked, subject to check.  And Mr. Lee has now had the opportunity to complete the check that he has provided in his response.  So I don't think it was an error.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  I asked a fairly simple question, I thought: when did you know this.  Because we shouldn't be hearing about it in oral evidence for the first time.

If they knew about it three weeks ago, we should have known about it three weeks ago.

MR. NETTLETON:  I can't speak for -- I don't know the answer to his question.  It's perhaps something that he can raise with the witnesses, but I can't add anything further to that.

MS. LONG:  Do you feel that you are going to need some time, Mr. Shepherd, to deal with this evidence?

MR. SHEPHERD:  My cross-examination plan for today, Madam Chair, has CDM quite near the end.  So it may be that during the break I can take a look at this.

But I will ask -- and maybe I could start with my cross with this:  I will ask if the witness can please provide whatever documentation he's relying on for these statements, because right now all we have is sort of a general statement that the 177 percent is really sort of misleading.

Well, what's the documentation that backs that up?  Can we have that, please?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  I never said that the -- sorry.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Mr. Shepherd, I in no way said that the results were misleading.  The 177 percent is calculated based on the numbers provided in the Woodstock CDM report filed with the OEB in October.

The numbers that I quoted were directly -- the 50 percent that I quoted was a calculation from table 1, I believe.  If you would give me a moment?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Table 1, of what, sorry?  What document?

MR. LEE:  So Mr. Shepherd on October 17, 2014, Woodstock Hydro filed their 2013 CDM annual report.  And on page --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, is that in the record here?

MR. LEE:  No, that is on the -- filed on the OEB website.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can we have it on the record?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, I believe the 177 percent report or numeric is what you stated in the question.

And that 177 percent metric is what you've referred to in the report that's on the record, or at least on the OEB's website.  It's a matter of public record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair --

MS. LONG:  I'm going to interject here.  You're going to deal with CDM toward the end of your cross-examination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  We do want to see a copy of that report, the panel.  So we would ask that you either coordinate with -- if you could do that on the break, or coordinate with staff, and we will get a copy of that at the break, so that the panel can see it at the same time as Mr. Lee is doing his explanation.

MR. LEE:  Yes.  Just to assist in the matter, it is basically the numbers that support Exhibit K5 that you filed, which was the 177 percent.  So it is really the underlying metrics behind that.

MS. LONG:  Right, right.  Just so we can follow along.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be very good.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, you will continue with your cross-examination.

Mr. Harding to the extent that you have any questions after Mr. Shepherd has completed his cross-examination on the new evidence, we will get to you at that point.  Okay?

MR. HARDING:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have two things that I just want to -- I have looked at your revised application, and there are just two things that -- they may be just errors, things that were missed in the application.  I just want to make sure that I understand correctly.

So can you look first at your application form, the actual formal application on page 3 -- oh, no, that's not the application form.  That is the -- the application form is later on.  I think it would be Exhibit A 3-1, page 3.

So at the bottom of page 3, what's the continuing involvement in this application of Pat Sobeski, currently?

MR. BERTOLO:  Mr. Sobeski was the mayor at the time we made the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a new application.  Is he mayor now?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why is he part of the notice in this?

MR. BERTOLO:  I'm sorry, it's just an oversight.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have that corrected, and find out who the new person is who would be the contact person?  Mr. Sobeski is not involved any more, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  No, he's not the mayor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it would be Birtsch?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, B-I-R-T-S-C-H, who would be involved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have that corrected, please?  I would appreciate it.

The second thing is, there are two references that maybe were just missed when you edited it.

The first is A-1-1, page 3.  You will see at line 24 and 25, it says:  "The rebasing and rate harmonization application is expected to take effect in 2020."

Now, that is not true anymore, right?  It is now 2025, is that correct?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, you're correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And then if you take a look at A-3-1, page 8, which is again the application form, you see in 1.4.1 (c) the same reference to taking effect in 2020.  That should also be 2025, is that correct?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, you're correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Now, before I go back to that application, I just want to ask a couple of general questions about the new policy.

You filed a new application because you want to apply the new policy of the Board, as set out in EB-2014-0138, to this transaction; right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have a copy of that, which is K2.1, and if you look at page 4 of that, where it talks about the deferral period for rate rebasing, it refers to the consolidating entities.  Do you see that?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, which line specifically?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The lines are not numbered on mine, but the first words of the last two paragraphs are "consolidating entities", right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is referred to throughout.  So those consolidating entities -- and tell me whether this is correct -- are Woodstock Hydro Services Inc., which has the distribution licence now, and Hydro One Networks Inc., which is the distributor into which that distribution system will be folded, right?

Those are the consolidating entities for the purposes of this application; correct?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, still on page 4, you will see that the new policy of the Board says "consolidating distributors may elect to defer rebasing for a period of up to ten years after the closing of the transaction", right?  This transaction is expected to close sometime in 2015?

MR. BERTOLO:  Hopefully.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so then you would want to defer -- and you're asking for a deferral for ten years; is that right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Because your application says you want up to ten years, and I was not sure whether that meant that you wanted ten years or you wanted to have discretion to decide when you came back.

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, at this point we're asking for the ten-year period, but obviously it's up to the ten-year period, because you can always change it before then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So these are two different things.  Are you asking the Board to order that you have a deferral for ten years or are you asking the Board to order that you have a deferral for any -- any period from one from ten years at your discretion?  Which are you asking for?

MR. BERTOLO:  Ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ten years.  Okay.  So you wouldn't then have a discretion to come in earlier?

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't think that is precluded by the policy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Then I am back to the same thing.  I don't understand.  Are you asking for a discretion or not?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  I think the policy affords you discretion.  Right now the application is for the ten-year period of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you believe the policy says if you get a ten-year -- the right to rebase for ten years, if the Board orders that consistent with the policy, that if you chose three years from now to come in with cost of service, you could?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, the reason I'm hesitating is we have a contractual commitment on the five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me make it six years then.

MR. BERTOLO:  Sure.  At the six-year point in time, because it allows you, just like the ICM module allows you, to come in as necessary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Are you saying this is a change from the previous policy?

MR. BERTOLO:  Obviously it's issued March 26th.  It is a new policy direction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Sorry.  Your complete discretion to come in anytime you like, is that a change from the previous policy?  Or is that -- is it your understanding -- you're interpreting it, right?  Is it your understanding that that continues the old policy, just with a ten-year limit instead of a five-year limit?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, I think this policy overrides the previous premise.  So therefore this one allows that in the deferral period you can -- you have from year six to ten for that deferral period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're saying anytime in years six to ten you can come in and ask for new rates?

MR. BERTOLO:  Nothing I've read precludes you from doing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's why -- sorry.  I seem to be beating a dead horse, but I don't actually understand the answer, Madam Chair.

Are you asking the Board to order, now, that you should not come in for new rates -- rebase for ten years?  Or are you asking the Board to order that you should not come in to rebase for some period in your discretion up to ten years?  Which are you asking for?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, this is a matter of relief that is being sought in the application, and typically that's part of the legal request that is being made.

I might be able to help Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.

MR. NETTLETON:  The relief that is sought is for a deferral period consistent with the new policy of ten years.  That's the definitive request that's being made, is to allow Hydro One to have use of or make use of the extended deferral period set out in the policy.

If, between years six and ten, when Hydro One does not have any commercial commitments or contractual obligations to rebase as they do with respect to the share purchase agreement that they have entered into with Woodstock, if between years six and ten Hydro One should choose to come in earlier and seek a rebasing, what I am hearing from the witness is that Hydro One wants the discretion to do so; but to do so it would have to come in and provide justification of changes in facts and circumstances that would give rise to that request.

But in this application what we're seeking approval for is a definitive ten-year rate rebasing period.  If something happens in the future that should cause a change that would require or allow Hydro One to come in earlier, they could do so, subject to meeting the Board's requirements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask a clarification on that?  I mean, obviously this is central to the revised application.

The current rate -- RRFE rate rules allow for an off-ramp if you're 300 basis points offside.   Is that what my friend is referring to as their ability to come in before ten years?

MR. NETTLETON:  No.  That's not -- the policy -- the policy makes it very clear --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I don't understand.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- that in order to take effect of the rebasing extended period, you have to include an earnings sharing mechanism that addresses the 300-basis-point collar, and that 300-basis-point collar is what gives rise, in that rebasing period, to potential sharing of cost savings that give rise to an earnings level above 300 basis points.

That is what is going to happen in years six through ten.  But a decision with respect to when precisely a rate rebasing application is made, what we're saying in this application is it's ten years.  That's what we're seeking approval for.  If something should change or if there's some reason for Hydro One to come in between years six and ten when it has satisfied the contractual obligation of -- with Woodstock, it would have to bring that application forward.  It would have to justify the request that we'd be making at that period of time, and if those are changes in circumstances and new facts, that's what it would have to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I assume that -- and I'm sort of asking this question of the witnesses, but I expect that Mr. Nettleton may wish to answer.  That's fine.

I assume that if the -- if the world unfolds in this application for ten years -- that is, the costs and the capital spend, et cetera, are as expected -- that then you would not have the opportunity to come in earlier.  You would not have a discretion just because you wanted to.  It would have to be a change in circumstances; is that right?

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm not sure I understand your question, Mr. Shepherd.  I mean, I think what I'm hearing is, what changes in circumstances and new facts are going to give rise to an application that is made six years from now, and I can't tell you what those are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what I asked.

If the Board could turn to A-2-1, page 8.  There is a projection of OM&A and capital expenditure savings where the applicants have represented to the Board what they think is going to happen for ten years.

So my question is, if this is what happens, can the ratepayers rely on the applicant not coming in until ten years?  Or could the applicant decide in year six, you know what, we would like to have cost-of-service rates, so --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Shepherd, just before you -- and I do want that question to go to the witnesses.  I just want to alert as a foundation to the discussion we just had, in your Exhibit K2.1, page 7 of the policy, I just refer you to the second full paragraph, where the statement reads, at the end of that paragraph:

"Therefore, there is no requirement for the consolidated entity to wait until the deferred rebasing period is completed to apply to the OEB for rebasing."

So I believe that is what we're getting at here.  That's the nub of the issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I can't find this reference.  Can you tell me where it is?

MR. NETTLETON:  Page 7, the last sentence of the second full paragraph.  First full paragraph.  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your conclusion is that, despite asking for ten years, it's actually discretionary when you come in, and you do not need to have a change in circumstances?

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm simply reading and referring to what the policy says, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask the applicants to undertake to advise whether coming in for rebasing prior to the ten years requires a change in circumstances in their view, and, if so, what is it?  What is the nature of the change in circumstances that would allow an early application for rebasing?  I am just asking ---

MS. LONG:  Do you need to do that by way of undertaking, or can you just answer that question, Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, I guess I can try and answer the question.  But my answer is going to be that I'm going to need a crystal ball.

Quite frankly, I don't know how to answer that.

MS. LONG:  I guess there are two issues here.  I think what Mr. Shepherd is asking is: does there need to be a change in circumstances for you to come in for rebasing between years six and ten, a defined change of circumstances?  Or is it completely within your discretion to come in between years six and ten.  That is the distinction.

MR. NETTLETON:  I guess the reference to "changes in circumstances" is sort of a difficult concept to grasp, because it's a relative concept.  It's relative to what?

I mean, we're talking six years from now.  I would assume that at the time that a rebasing application is made, that there would be some explanation of the circumstances that are giving rise to the rebasing application and justification for it.

MS. LONG:  I only say change in circumstances because you said in your original answer "change in circumstances".  And perhaps you want to move off that to say, no, there doesn't need to be change in circumstances; it is completely within our discretion as per the policy and your interpretation of the policy.

So I am just trying to correct -- or, I guess, understand what it is that is your position.  Is it discretionary?  Is there something that needs to happen between years six and ten for you to come in?

MR. NETTLETON:  Let me clarify, because I don't want to be confusing here.

The change in circumstance obviously would be a rebasing application coming in before year ten.  That would be the change in circumstance.

So we would -- Hydro One would be making an application before year ten and that would be a change, as compared to what it is seeking here, which is a rate rebasing period for the full ten-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with respect, my friend very clearly said "we will file a rebasing application if there is a change of circumstances".  The change of circumstances cannot be the rebasing application; that would be circular.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm sorry, I was being pulled in different directions.

MS. LONG:  I think what Mr. Shepherd's point is -- and I agree with him on this -- it is a bit circular to say the change in circumstances would be the filing of a rebasing application.  So is that what you intended to mean?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, it's not.  What I intend to mean is that if an application is filed before year ten, there's obviously a reason for doing that.

And my suggestion is that at that time, the application would set out what that reason is for making the application prior to year ten.  That's simply what -- the change in circumstance, as compared to now, where we're applying for a rate rebasing application to not be made prior to the end of year ten.

We're seeking to have the full length of the rate rebasing period apply, and request that from the Board now.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, I think we can move on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think so.  All right.

Let me talk about rate plans then, witnesses.  You have this rebasing deferral period, and on page 11 of the policy -- if you could turn that up, I'd appreciate it -- it says:
"A distributor on price cap IR whose plan expires would continue to have its rates based on the price cap adjustment mechanism during the remainder of the deferral period."

Do you see that?

MR. BERTOLO:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand what your application is, you're saying Woodstock is a distributor that is on price cap IR, and after a five-year freeze and reduction, it would then come under this part of the policy and go back on price cap IR.  Is that right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it would continue that way until rebasing?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Woodstock was due to file cost of service in 2015, but didn't; right?

And so for 2015 through -- is it 2015 through 2020, or 2016 through 2020?  Sorry.

Which five-year period is it that the rate freeze would apply to?

MR. BERTOLO:  It depends when we close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you close some time this year, then it would be a five-year period starting the day of closing, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  It would be the rates in effect now.  So we would take the -- assume they're the 2015 rates.  So we would go, I think, to 2020.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then starting in 2021, you would be on price cap?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, in 2021, you're not actually proposing that you have an increase of the price cap amount; right?  You're actually asking for a bigger increase than that, right, 2021?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  We're saying the rider would come off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is one percent.

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.  Then whatever the price cap mechanism is at that time would take effect; let's assume it's another one percent, so it would go up one percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2021, you would have a higher increase and then, in the subsequent years, they would be lower increases?

MR. BERTOLO:  Depending on what the price cap mechanism is at that time with productivity and everything, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, of course.  That one percent rate reduction is not really a rate reduction, is it?  It is actually a rider.  It is like a payment to the customers for not complaining about the transaction?

MR. BERTOLO:  I would characterize it that it's the mechanism to effect the one percent down, and they have the benefit of five years of keeping it frozen.  And given they didn't come in for a cost of service now, the rates would effectively have been frozen for up to seven years at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In Exhibit A-1-1, page 3, you say that the intention is to reduce base delivery distribution rates by one percent.

But you're not actually going to reduce rates, are you?  You're giving a rate rider which will then come off.

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  And so the amount is about the $90,000 a year, roughly?  Distribution revenue is around nine million, so it would be around $90,000 a year?

MR. BERTOLO:  I think we quoted $80,000, but close enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, close enough.  Am I right that for the average customer, we're talking about something less than five dollars a year?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, compared to the rates that we've seen from most distributors at this point in time all going up significantly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total cost to you is about $400,000, is that right, roughly?  That's what you're expecting?

MR. BERTOLO:  Roughly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the transaction costs for this transaction are somewhere between two-and-a-half and four million dollars?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would agree that this temporary payment you're proposing is immaterial, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  No, I disagree.  It's not immaterial.  Compared to other LDCs who have filed in 2013 and 2014 with rates going up, some of them into double digits, this can be construed as significant savings.

And given that it is frozen for the five years, the Woodstock Hydro customers are going to benefit for a prolonged period of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about the freeze.  I understand, the freeze is good.  The one percent, not so much, right?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am finding it difficult, this line of questioning, because we're going back to where we were on January 15th.

The discussion of the negative rate rider and the discussion of the freeze were matters that Mr. Shepherd asked the witnesses back on January 15th.

Nothing has changed with regard to those elements, and as it relates to the amended application.  So I am seeing no value in going back to this area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's true, Madam Chair.  It's a fair objection.  I am finished this part of the cross.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do, however, want to talk about the other consolidating entity, Hydro One Distribution.

So Hydro One Distribution is currently on custom IR under EB-2013-0416, for the period 2015 to 2017, isn't it?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you take a look at the policy on page 12, it says:

"A distributor on custom IR whose plan expires would move to having rates based on the Price Cap IR adjustment mechanism during the remainder of the deferral period."

So that would be the next seven years after that, right?  So your proposal, if I understand it correctly, consistent with the policy, is that Hydro One Distribution would be on price cap IR from 2018 through 2024?  Is that right?

MR. LEE:  I believe this is in relation to a distributor consolidation, so I think this applies to Hydro One Networks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I asked you who are the consolidating entities.  Hydro One Networks, Woodstock.  So Woodstock, we know they're on price cap IR and they continue on that.  We know the other consolidating entity, Hydro One Networks, is on custom and will go off it in 2017.

I am asking whether you're asking for an exception to the policy for Hydro One Network or whether you're asking for the policy to apply.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry.  Mr. Shepherd, let me try it.  When you asked consolidating entities, I took that in the plural, those are the parties in play.

So our read of the policy is, you have to delineate between the consolidator and the consolidatee, if you want. So you correctly, in my opinion, when you highlighted Woodstock Hydro in the interim period, because nothing else was happening to their rates, they would stay price cap to price cap.  So agree to that point.

On the Hydro One piece, when we actually do do the harmonization sometime in the future, sometime between years six and ten, at that time Hydro One's rate regime would come into question, because it then would have to look at:  Is it custom, is it price cap?  That then would have to be dovetailed into this policy to determine what the overall harmonization is for the consolidator, which would be Hydro One Networks at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you take a look at page 11 of the policy?

MR. BERTOLO:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you see under the heading, the OEB policy, it says -- I will read it to you:

"The OEB wishes to clarify which incentive rate plan would apply to distributors who are party to a MAADs transaction."

Now, Hydro One Networks Inc. is a party to this MAADs application; is that right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.  But it has its own rate regime right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And its custom IR.  Right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct, and that will continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the Board says if a distributor is on custom IR -- that is Hydro One -- the plan expires.  It is going to in 2017.  It moves to price cap IR.

Why would that not apply to Hydro One?

MR. BERTOLO:  Because there is no harmonization at that point in time with the Woodstock Hydro distributor who we've consolidated.  They run in parallel.  They don't overlap until you get to harmonization.

MS. LONG:  So Mr. Bertolo, is it your view that they don't become a consolidated entity until such time as the rates are harmonized?  Is that your position?

MR. BERTOLO:  You can't have the tail wagging the dog.  It doesn't make any sense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you were equal in size, it would be different.

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, you would have to look at it, because your harmonization plan would have to take that into account, because at that point you're dovetailing together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not harmonizing for ten years.  We're talking about what happens until the ten years.

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.  So Hydro One would continue on its rate regime, because it is separate from the Woodstock Hydro rate regime until we get to harmonization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not what the Board says.

MR. BERTOLO:  That is your interpretation of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your view, I guess, is that you treat Woodstock as separate, but Hydro One continues as if it had not acquired Woodstock.

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, to me that is just the reality of the way it would happen.  If the objective is to provide consolidation in the industry, I hardly think you are going to let a small transaction turn over the entire structure that exists in the industry.  I find that incongruent with the overall objective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that the OEB's policy is incorrect.

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  I said your interpretation is incorrect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.  So I just want to be clear.  You're not asking for an exception to the policy of any type?  Right?

MR. LEE:  Mr. Shepherd, let me make a clarification.  I think I misheard, and when you asked me if we were on a custom IR, I believe we actually filed for a custom cost of service, which is why I think this confusion has started.

So in our application we filed for a custom cost of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Actually, the Board in its decision said that wasn't one of your options.  And so it was a custom IR.  And it was badly done.

MR. LEE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me move on to the incremental capital module.  And I want to -- there's two parts to this.  So let me start first with the policy on page 7.  You're asking for this to apply to you, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Under this policy it's available.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're asking for the Board to -- the policy doesn't give you anything.  The Board gives you things.  The Board makes decisions and gives you things.  The policy gives you nothing.  It is just a policy.  It is not binding.

MR. BERTOLO:  Fair point.  We would like this to apply as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So the policy says that you have an ICM available to you -- and I take it you would say this ICM is available only to Woodstock, not to Hydro One during this period, because you're saying Hydro One is not one of the consolidated -- consolidating entities for this purpose, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  For the interpretation of this part of the policy, I agree with what you stated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you're saying -- you say in A-1-1, page 6 of your application, you say that you would -- you want the ICM available for the extended deferred rate rebasing period.  So not for the first five years.  Just for the last five years.  Right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BERTOLO:  That's correct; that's what it says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so that is what you're asking the Board to order, that it is not available the first five years but it is available for the second five years.  Do I understand that right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Our application asks for the second five.  I'm not clear if it is available in the first five.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so I was going to ask about that for two reasons.  First, the policy would allow for anytime during the ten years, but you're only asking for the five years.

I take it the reason for that is that you have signed an agreement with the town that says you're not going to raise rates for five years, so you can't very well ask for an ICM.  Right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair?  Okay, good.  So that raises a different thing.  And to do that, I wonder if you can go to schedule 6.7 of the agreement.  Remember the agreement?

Do you recall this schedule?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this has in 2018 a big capital spend, 9.5 million.  That's right?  And that's for something called Commerce Way?  Is that right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.  Commerce Way TS true-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You would not be allowed to ask for an ICM for that under this application; isn't that right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.  ICM would change rates.  We wouldn't be asking for a rate change at that point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then once it's finished, once it's completed in 2018, you couldn't ask for an ICM in 2021 for that, because it would already be past spending.  Right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BERTOLO:  We wouldn't be asking for an ICM for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  And in any case, it is not an unexpected expenditure, so it wouldn't be under ICM anyway, right?  You know you are going to spend that money.

MR. BERTOLO:  We don't know the amount at this point in time, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a pretty good idea you're going to spend it.  And you're not asking for an advanced capital module today, are you, for that?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  So then if we set aside the Commerce Way spending, which you have now clarified very well, thank you, then the question I have is, why do you need access to the ICM at all?

The reason I ask that is because, if you can take a look at A-2-1 page 8 -- do you have that?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, I do, thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your planned capital spending in Woodstock for ten years, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  This is our projection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, this is what you plan to spend, isn't it?  Or do you not have a plan?  I guess we talked about that before, didn't we?  You don't actually have a plan for what you are going to spend, do you?

MR. BERTOLO:  We do have a plan.  This table represents a projection, because it shows you multiple scenarios.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the middle scenario, is that the plan?

MR. BERTOLO:  I'm taking issue with your word "plan"; these are scenarios.

Once the transaction closes and we actually take control of the assets and we do a full assessment of those assets at that time, we will develop the actual operating plan.

At this point in time, this is our projection from the limited due diligence that we were -- conducted to underpin the transaction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just asked you, do you have a plan, and you said yes.

And now I think you're saying that you don't yet have a plan -- which is what I thought was true -- but you're going to after you close.  Is that fair?

MR. BERTOLO:  I can't have a plan until the transaction closes.  These are forecasts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason why I am asking about this is because your capital spending drops by about 18 percent during this ten-year period.  This is -- these numbers that you are forecasting are 18 percent below your status quo scenario.

And they're only marginally higher than depreciation, and that appears to me to say that there is no way you could possibly need an ICM.

MR. BERTOLO:  So let me take you back.  As we discussed in January, the status quo is Woodstock Hydro operating under its business model, not our business model.

So this isn't our reduction.  This is our forecast of spends, based on our assessment of those assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am looking at your spend, your estimated spend, and I am seeing an amount that is -- there's no years in which you would be even close to qualifying for an ICM.

So I am asking: Is that not what you're actually expecting to happen?  You think that something else is going to happen that you will need an ICM?

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.  If you look at the basic definition of an ICM, it has to be an anomaly, something that wasn't projected.


So in years six to ten, I don't know what is not going to happen at this point in time.  So if something extraneous does occur at that point in time, the policy allows for an ICM.  We will make the appropriate application with the appropriate evidence to underpin it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But on your current forecast -- this is what I am really getting at.  On your current forecast, you don't have any expectation that you are going to need an ICM for Woodstock, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, it depends.  When you look at this, there is a high, medium, and low.  If you can tell me which one is actually going to transpire at that point in time, and if it actually was the low cost scenario where we actually have to expend more dollars, then actually we may need it.  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I did the high cost scenario, too, and I couldn't find a year in the high cost scenario in which you would qualify.

MR. BERTOLO:  Because --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is why I'm asking the question.

MR. BERTOLO:  This assumes steady state.  The ICM, by definition, is an anomaly.  I don't forecast anomalies in here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

MR. LEE:  Mr. Shepherd, may I assist?  So you're correct.  Based on these numbers, the ICM would not be triggered based on the formula.  So it would not reach above the threshold.

I think what we're basically saying is that if there if was a discrete project or some kind of event where we would require an ICM, that it is available to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, okay.  Excellent.  You didn't ask for the ICM before, because you didn't have it under the policy, and you are now asking for it.

And so ratepayers would legitimately ask does this mean you're going to spend more money?  And I understand you to be saying currently, you don't expect to change what you spend, but it could happen; and if it does, you want this available.  Is that right?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am not sure where this line of questioning is going.  And I am objecting to it, to this line proceeding.

What the witnesses have indicated is that the application that has been made is to include the ICM module.  That's consistent with the policy.  That's what the policy says.

What Mr. Shepherd has asked the witnesses is:  Is there any reasonable expectation that you have that you're going to be applying the ICM in the future?

And the witnesses have said they don't have that reasonable expectation, because that's not the very nature of ICM.

But what the policy does say at page 10 is that despite its inclusion in the policy, that distributors proposing amounts for recovery by way of ICM must be assessed by the OEB through a hearing and must meet the tests of materiality, need and prudence.

So I am not sure what we can get to here today to talk about some future set of circumstances that may or may not give rise to an ICM application, and how the Board at that point in time is going to deal with the tests of materiality, need, and prudence.

It strikes me that the policy is what has changed.  The applicant has made an amendment to include reference to this new policy.  And whatever happens in the future is going to happen in the future, and there is nothing we can do today to discuss what is going to happen in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, all I was trying to get at -- and I thought I was fairly clear about it -- is I understand there's a change in the policy.  Is asking for the ICM an indication that Hydro One has changed their expected capital spending over the ten-year period?


If the answer is no, that they're continuing to expect to spend the same way they did before, that's great.  That is all I wanted to know.

I think that is a legitimate question.

MS. LONG:  Well, as I understood the evidence, I think that is your evidence.  Obviously, if something untoward happened in years six to ten, you would make the appropriate application, or you propose to make the appropriate application under the ICM, and you would have to satisfy the Board at that time that you met the criteria.  Is that --

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, correct.

MS. LONG:  That's your position?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask one thing that is sort of related to that?

Can you accept, subject to check, that Woodstock Hydro has had an annual growth in its customers of about 1.15 percent over the last eight years?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sounds about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sounds about right.  Do you have any reason to think that that is going to be different in the future?  Do you have forecasts that are inconsistent with that?

MR. BERTOLO:  If you can tell me what the Toyota   plant is going to do in Woodstock, we would all be pleased if you can crystal-ball that one for us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, presumably, you forecasted it, too.  You didn't just buy this willy-nilly; you are making your own assessment.

I am asking only do you have evidence that that will not continue in the future.

MR. BERTOLO:  No, I have nothing to deviate from what you have stated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So then the other part of the ICM is the old ICM.  If you could take a look at A-1-1, page 5?  You're requesting --


MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, just let me get there.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So in the second-last bullet, you are requesting that the rate rider for -- that the existing ICM rate rider be extended until the end of the deferred rebasing period; right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Right, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MS. LONG:  Are you asking for that as part of this application, Mr. Bertolo?  That's a change?  I'm looking at the letter that the Board issued on April 30, 2015, where we extended that ICM until rates are rebased in 2020, or such other date as approved by the OEB.

But are you asking this Panel to make a determination that that would go out to 2025?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, it would be, because it is part of the deferred period, and the ICM extends into that period.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So this amount is -- this is the capital contribution related to Commerce Way, right, the TS?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, repeat that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This ICM is for the capital contribution related to the Commerce Way TS; right?

MR. BERTOLO:  I think it is in general an ICM.

MR. LEE:  No, that is correct.  It is for the Commerce Way TS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you go to Exhibit A2-1, page 12, it is actually referred to there -- I probably should have taken you to that first, so I apologize.

That rider, is that a rider based on a fixed monthly amount, or a variable, or both?

MR. LEE:  I'm not sure of the answer to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll check at the break.  I wonder if you could check at the break and we will come back to that, but here's what I want to know.  The Commerce Way TS capital contribution, is that a 20-year asset?  What's the depreciation period for it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't know the exact answer to that, but from the depreciation rates that I'm familiar with it would probably be more in the 50-year range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know what --


MR. LEE:  Or higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I want to ask some specific questions about that, so why don't I move that down to later in my cross, and we can talk about that after the break.

MR. BERTOLO:  Just so we're clear, depreciation rates of a transmission station?

MR. LEE:  No -- useful life --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of the contribution.

MR. BERTOLO:  Okay.

MR. LEE:  Sorry, can you repeat that just to ensure that I'm clear?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the depreciation rate on the contribution.  So the depreciation rate that's being used in the ICM calculation.  It may just be useful if it is possible at the break to bring up the ICM calculation, the calculation of the rider, which has the capital amount, et cetera, because I am going to ask you some specific questions about the dollars associated with that.  Okay?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. LONG:  Mr. Lee, at the same time if you could familiarize yourself with the rider and what it looks like, whether it is fixed or variable.  I am going to be asking you some questions about that.

MR. LEE:  Sure, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now if I can move on to the ESM, the policy provides -- I will take you to it.  Page 6 of the new policy provides that if you are going to go beyond five years you have to propose an earnings sharing mechanism if you exceed 300 basis points above Board-approved ROE.  Is that right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're proposing that; isn't that right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would start in 2021 and go to 2025.

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the 50/50 sharing is above that dead band.  Your proposal on this, what ROE are you proposing is going to be the base line?

MR. LEE:  It would be the Board-approved ROE at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So each year?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's not the Board-approved ROE today that's built into rates?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Sorry, I have been clarified.  It is the consolidator's ROE at that time, because the ESM is done on a consolidated basis.  So it will be the consolidator's ROE at the specific year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's interesting.  So, sorry, so all of Hydro One will be under earnings sharing.

MR. LEE:  That is our interpretation of the policy, yes.  No.  Sorry, I mean -- oh, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the rules with respect to what rate plan you are on don't apply to Hydro One, but the earnings sharing does?  Is that what your interpretation...

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, which rate plan?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We asked -- I talked to you earlier about what rate plan Woodstock and Hydro One would be on after the transaction.  And you said, no, no, no, that doesn't apply to Hydro One.  It only applies to Woodstock.

And so now I am asking the question, well, what about the earnings sharing, and you're saying, no, the earnings sharing applies to the consolidated entity, not to Woodstock.

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.  Because that is what it says.  If you read the top of page 7, the third line, it said "if the consolidated entities' actual ROE" -- it says "consolidated entities".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BERTOLO:  We take that to be Hydro One's -- Hydro One Networks Inc. as being the consolidated entity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you believe that the policy is telling you that you can make as much money as you want in Woodstock, as long as it's not big enough to put you -- put Hydro One over 300 basis points, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  That's what we believe the policy says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When is the last time Hydro One was more than 300 basis points over Board-approved ROE?  The answer is "never".

MR. NETTLETON:  So why ask the question if you know what the answer is?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  That was more dramatic than it needed to be.

So what you're saying is that you're proposing an earnings sharing mechanism that cannot, under any possible circumstances, ever benefit the ratepayers of Woodstock.  Isn't that true?

MR. BERTOLO:  No, it's not true.  You just said "never".  I'm sorry, but we don't project our ROEs out til whenever.  Anything can happen.

If you can guarantee me interest rates don't go to 1,000 percent, then potentially.  But you're asking a future situation we don't know.  The policy has put the band in there, and if you go back to page 6, the second-last paragraph, the Board is very clear in its policy.  It says that the sharing mechanism is what it deems appropriate to address ratepayer concerns that the accumulated savings could amount to a windfall for shareholders.

The policy clearly states it.  So we have just implemented it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's talk about the windfall for shareholders, then.  Can you go to Exhibit A-2-1, page 8, please.  Do you have that?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, I do, thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're anticipating that the costs for the Woodstock operations will go down by an average of about $2.7 million per year for the next ten years, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Relative to their operating model today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, are costs going to go down or not?

MR. BERTOLO:  Relative to their operating model today.  I just want to be clear of what this exhibit is.  They operate on a different basis than which we operate.  So there is a delta, I agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  This says "projected LDC acquisition OM&A and capital expenditure savings."  Are you going to save this money or not?

MR. BERTOLO:  Relative to how they operate today, correct.  That's the base that starts this exhibit.  I just want to be absolutely clear about this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm not --


MR. BERTOLO:  So the status quo is Woodstock operating is (sic) a stand-alone entity.  The premise of consolidation, when we consolidate them into our operations its incremental costs.  That is what drives savings into the industry.  That's what is going to drive consolidation into the broader industry.

So the savings is the delta from how they operate today, from when a large regional consolidator takes them over and the amount of capital that is expended is much less.  That is the delta that you are seeing here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, the big delta is the OM&A that you're spending; right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to have 22 less people.

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.  Doing those specific functions that aren't necessary anymore because they're consolidated into a larger entity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And would you accept subject to check that if you save this money, if you save this much, the average ROE for the Woodstock operations for those ten years would be 27 percent?

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is just math.

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to calculate it, then?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BERTOLO:  Sure.  We will check that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO CALCULATE THE AVERAGE ROE FOR THE WOODSTOCK OPERATIONS FOR THOSE TEN YEARS

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what I am asking for is for the witness to calculate, assuming that the results here actually happen -- and, you know, you already have the basic revenues and expenses of Woodstock, so you know where the starting point is -- calculate the projected ROE for each of those years on your base case.  And you can use the higher and lower as well, if you want.

MR. BERTOLO:  Can I try to be helpful here to the Panel?  The Woodstock entity won't be existing going forward should this be approved, and therefore, whatever would have been their ROE is quite frankly irrelevant, because the premise of consolidation is the fact that you are looking to have savings to offset the transactional costs, as clearly stated in the March 26th policy decision.

The problem in the industry is consolidators are at risk in doing the consolidation.  There has to be a delta in there.

So whether the delta is large or not -- is large enough is a question of risk that the consolidator is taking.

So if the operation -- even if this calculation shows hundreds of percents of ROE, it doesn't do anything in the overall scheme of trying to advance consolidation.

You're trying to eliminate the duplication that exists in the industry.  That is the fundamental premise of the consolidation.  You're trying to drive costs down.

So obviously, if you actually were to drive their cost base to this level, they would be much better off.

But it won't happen under their model.  It only happens if the consolidation actually takes place.

So I am trying to understand.  We take the undertaking, we'll generate a number.  I am missing how this is going to help the Panel assess anything.

MS. LONG:  Well, let me interject here.

The policy strives to do two things.  It strives to reduce risk for the consolidator by extending the period out to ten years.  But it also seeks to make sure that there's not an over-recovery.
And that is why the earnings sharing mechanism is put into place.

I think what Mr. Shepherd's point is that we need to align costs to rates.  That is one of the things that the Norfolk decision talks about.

And if we're not looking at the costs of Woodstock,   we're not looking at the return on equity for Woodstock.  We're looking for Hydro One as a whole.  The Panel may have problems assessing that.

So I am trying to understand how the ROE for Hydro One is the right ROE to be using, as opposed to the ROE for Woodstock.

MR. LEE:  Let me help you with that as well.  For Mr. Shepherd's, I guess, illustrative example, we can calculate the ROE based on these numbers.

But Woodstock Hydro's -- I'm going to say financial statements will cease to exist once they're merged in.  So an ROE calculation is -- they won't have an equity component anymore.  There won't be a stand-alone statement.

So to calculate ROE for Woodstock is not possible going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow up question to that, Madam Chair?

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you look at A-2-1, page 23?  On line 8 it says:  "Hydro One will keep separate financial records for WHSI."

So are you going to do that, or not?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  It says "records", so not financial statements.  So we are -- we will have to track costs that we spend in the Woodstock territory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your interpretation of the Norfolk decision is not that you keep separate account of all of the operating costs associated -- all of the costs associated with the acquired entity, but only the hard costs and not the soft costs, like cost of capital; is that right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.  It has to be, because otherwise you lose the benefits of consolidation.  Like, there won't be attributed debt, for example, to Norfolk or Woodstock Hydro any longer.  It will be part of the broader umbrella.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the savings you claimed is that the debt rate will be lower for Woodstock customers; is that true or not?

MR. LEE:  That is true.  Our cost of borrowing is lower than Woodstock's.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're not going to record that, so they're not going to get any benefit from that.

MR. BERTOLO:  It will be recorded in the total portfolio that is managed.

The whole premise here is to eliminate all of these duplicative elements in the back end.  If we're now going to repeat exactly what exists, savings are all lost.  You don't get the savings.  You're setting up exactly the same financial reporting.

We clearly stated in the evidence that we're eliminating reporting systems.  So I am not setting up a separate system to track each one of the acquisitions, because it loses the whole benefit of consolidation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were ordered to do so by the Board.

MR. BERTOLO:  It said to track costs; we will track costs.  You now asked for financial statements to calculate ROE.

It is a very different premise.  It is a very different level of reporting consideration that would be required.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I wonder if -- I know it is a little early for a break, but I wonder if this would be a convenient time, so that I can -- I want to follow up with a couple of more questions about this.  But I want to make sure I'm not wasting the Board's time by meandering around.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.  We will break now, we will break for twenty minutes.  Mr. Lee, will that give you enough time to look at the information Mr. Shepherd asked you to follow up on?

MR. LEE:  I will take a look, yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  We will come back at ten after eleven.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:48 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to continue?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Witnesses, I am going to come back to the ICM and the CDM in a minute, but I just want to follow up on something that we talked about earlier.


You said that -- you agreed that for years six through ten of this plan, 2021 to 2025, I guess, at least the Woodstock component of rates would be based on price cap IR, right?


MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so which stretch factor do you believe should be used for that?  The Woodstock stretch factor or the Hydro One stretch factor?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEE:  We believe it is their stretch factor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is "their"?


MR. LEE:  Sorry, yes.  Woodstock's stretch factor.  I apologize.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that would be calculated each year, right?


MR. LEE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how are you going to do that, if you're not recording full financial information, as we discussed before the break?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEE:  Sorry.  I apologize for the delay.  We were just discussing, but I think we have to amend it, and I believe you are right, it should be our stretch factor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hydro One's stretch factor?


MR. LEE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Hydro One stretch factor would apply to the Woodstock rates?


MR. LEE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your basis for that is what?  Can you show me somewhere in the policy where it says that?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEE:  So as part of -- because we are the ones operating in a Woodstock territory, it would be our operations that will determine the reliability efforts in that area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, how does reliability fit into this?


MR. LEE:  Sorry, it would be part of the, sorry, productivity factor.  The productivity efficiency factor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then Woodstock would not separately report the data that's necessary to do the econometric calculations each year.


MR. LEE:  Correct.  Because it will be part of the overall Hydro One operations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what exactly are the separate financial records that you are planning to keep?  Can you give us some details on what things are going to be separate and what things are not going to be separate?


MR. LEE:  Sure.  I can do that.  So currently we're trying to ensure that we can report the units, in terms of the work programs that are accomplished within the Woodstock territory.


So those we are currently planning to keep separate, and that's how we're building and billing the system in terms of financially.


The things that will not be separate would be things like overhead corporate costs --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is actually not what your application says, right?  Your application at A-2-1, page 23 says:

"Common costs will be allocated to the WHSI business unit, consistent with Hydro One's current common corporate cost allocation model."


Isn't that what it says?


MR. LEE:  But it is allocated.  You said, like, what is separate and recorded.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, help me with this.  If you're allocating, but you are not recording it anywhere, then what kind of allocation is that?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEE:  So as an example, myself as an employee, I'm an allocated cost, because I am a Hydro One Networks employee, and my costs get allocated based on the Black & Veatch study which we employ for our rate applications.


So my costs are in a term captured in Hydro One Networks and then allocated.  So they're not separately recorded per se.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the separate financial records for WHSI will include those allocated costs, right?


MR. LEE:  We'll know a portion, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the part that is appropriate for WHSI, right?


MR. LEE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then what part of overheads will not be allocated?


MR. LEE:  So again, until we do the Black & Veatch study, we know our costs are currently embedded in the Hydro One Networks Tx and Dx framework.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand your answer, sorry.  Try again?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEE:  Sorry, so can you just repeat your question so I am ensuring I am answering it correctly?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said overheads are not going to be allocated to WHSI, but clearly common costs under your current corporate cost allocation model, including your costs, for example, are overheads.  So those ones you say are going to be allocated.


So what is not going to be allocated?  Help us with the difference.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, just for clarity of the record, that is not what I had understood Mr. Shepherd's premise to be.


Mr. Shepherd's premise to his question was, he took the witness to line 8 through 12 of page 23 of Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, and he asked the witness about what information would be recorded as separate financial records.


The discussion then went on to elaborate upon the description that is found there, and what's found there is, it says -- and Mr. Shepherd referred the witness to the statement -- that common costs will be allocated to the WHSI business unit, consistent with Hydro One's current common corporate cost allocation model.


That is where I thought the witnesses were at at this juncture.  But for Mr. Shepherd to now say that that is not what Hydro One is intending to do, that there is somehow some difference between what the application says and what the witnesses just said is not accurate and not fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, the witness very clearly said overheads will not be allocated, and then I took him to the application, where it says they will be.  I'm entitled to know whether they will or not.


Are there any overheads that are not going to be allocated, yes or no?  It's not complicated.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Lee, do you understand the question?


MR. LEE:  I do.  I'm trying to work through how the integration setup is, so that I can -- so I can help explain how the financial records will show up.


So to reiterate the points of the work program will be separately identified, and that's what we're aiming to do.


In terms of costs that won't be allocated are things like -- and a better example would probably be, like, interest and depreciation, because they will be part of the broader asset base and that portfolio.


So Woodstock Hydro would really become part of Hydro One Networks.  So again, those delineations will not -- will not occur on financial statements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you believe that this is consistent with what the Board ordered you to do in Norfolk?


MR. LEE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My understanding -- and maybe I have misunderstood -- I understood Norfolk to say keep separate records for the acquired entity because we need to know what the costs are to serve those customers at the end of the rebasing period.  Isn't that correct?


MR. LEE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How are they going to know if you are not including all of the costs?


MR. LEE:  We are including the costs, in terms of servicing the service territory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So costs of capital is not a cost anymore?  Is depreciation not a cost?

MR. LEE:  It is a cost to the Hydro One umbrella, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's not a cost to serve the Woodstock customers?

MR. LEE:  We will be trying to allocate the costs.  But again, it is all about allocation and not separately identified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You just said depreciation and interest are not going to be allocated.  Now you're saying you are going to allocate.

MR. LEE:  It's not charged, in terms of it's not specific to the segment reporting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you have a set of financial records for WHSI for each year that shows all of the costs on a normal regulatory basis to serve those customers?  Yes or no?

MR. LEE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What will be missing?

MR. LEE:  The items I previously indicated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So things like depreciation, you won't -- that cost to serve Woodstock will not be included?

MR. LEE:  It will be part of the bigger umbrella, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  If the Board wants to know how much it costs you to serve Woodstock, it won't be able to tell by what you're proposing to record, will it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  So I guess I've been speaking from a financial ledger perspective, because that is how I view the statements.

So from a rate design, which will happen when we file for an application, they will properly allocate the costs attributable.

But from a financial statement audited -- I'm going to say an audited financial statement, there will be no stand-alone Woodstock Hydro financial statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, but you will be recording every year the actual costs, all of the actual costs on a reasonably allocated basis to serve the Woodstock customers, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Yes, because that is what will support the rate design when we go in for rebasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then -- well, you don't know what will be rate design on rebasing, right, because you haven't decided what you will do at that time.

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you want to have that information, and you know the Board wants to have that information, right?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so during that ten-year period then, are you going to be filing those costs with the Board, the Woodstock costs with the Board?

MR. BERTOLO:  At this point in time, we don't know what the requirements are.  So would we be filing?  We would be having to hold them so when we get to the rate design point in time, we will be able to underpin the rate design appropriately.

And again the premise is so that we don't double count against different rate classes.

So that's where the allocations will have to make sure there is no double counting between any of the rate designs that come forward.  Allocations -- you make sure you just don't double count the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand what you're saying, sorry.  Between rate classes?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, when you have the rate design -- so in our situation, when we have UR, R1, R2, so the costs are allocated appropriately to the various rate classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I know how cost allocation works.  I thought we were talking about cost allocation between business units.

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you now talking about cost allocation between rate classes?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, the premise you said was how is the Board going to know when we come back for a rate filing in the harmonization.

So the principles are that we're going to have to underpin that rate design appropriately.  It will be consistent with all of the rate design principles we use today, when we allocate rates between various classes in Hydro One as an example, transmission rates versus distribution rates, and then all of the way through all of the different rate designs.

So if we play out the scenario that there is a new rate class developed, then that rate class will have to be underpinned with the appropriate costs.

It will have to demonstrate to the Board in that rate application, and it will have to make sure those costs aren't doubled up against any other category.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask you any questions about cost allocation between rate classes, sir.  I asked you only questions about cost allocation between business units.

This evidence talks about a common corporate cost allocation model which is between business units, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.  I was trying to be helpful to the Board, because at the end of the day, the tracking of the costs is key to the rate design when we get to that point in time.

In any given year, the costs will be the costs.  There will be a thousand issues that will affect the costs, anomalies out in the system, whatever it is; they will be the costs.

When we get to the rate design, that's when it becomes pertinent to the Panel, because that is when it will influence the rates that we actually apply at that time.

We'll have to demonstrate prudence on those costs.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Bertolo, can we go back to Mr. Shepherd's first question, which is whether or not you plan to file, on a yearly basis, the costs allocated to Woodstock Hydro.

MR. BERTOLO:  Currently right now, because that would defeat the purpose of part of the consolidation.

If we're tracing all of these costs, you're replicating the systems that exist.  The whole premise of consolidation was to eliminate duplication of systems and therefore, what I am projecting forward is when Woodstock Hydro is part of the larger Hydro One Networks, Woodstock doesn't exist as an entity in and of itself.  Why would we trace that?

The point becomes -- depends on what the rate design.  If Woodstock Hydro is part of a number of acquired entities at that point in time, it will be an amalgamation of all of the costs of all of the required entities, as an example of one rate design that can happen.

We don't intend necessarily to come back and have a Woodstock rate in year six.  Why would we do that?  That is not part of the harmonization.

It will more than likely be part of an acquired rate class, as an example of a design.  That rate class will have costs from a number of them.

Let's play out the scenario.  The three we have, or the two we have right now, Woodstock and --


MS. LONG:  I would just like an answer to my question. I am trying to understand.

You were going to track these costs for ten years and the ask is that at the end of ten years, and you come in with a new rate design, you will have all of that information for the Board that makes a determination on your rates.

But you do not plan to file that without an order of this Panel prior to that.  Is that --


MR. BERTOLO:  I'm having difficulty understanding how that would help in any way, shape, or form.  If we get the rate --


MS. LONG:  I am just trying to understand what your position is, and then we can ask --


MR. BERTOLO:  We're trying to minimize costs.  Therefore, our intention is not to provide reporting that isn't necessary.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Can I ask a supplementary?  Just to be clear, are you saying -- say you come in at the end of ten years, are you just going to give like a cumulative over ten year statement of costs?  Or would you actually have the year by year costs, you're just not proposing to file them year by year?

MR. BERTOLO:  I presume we'll have records to trace back.  But at that point, it is a forward-looking rate design.

So the historical costs -- okay, how far back do you go when you do a rate design?

MS. FRY:  Perhaps my word "cumulative" isn't technically accurate.  But my question is: say you come in hypothetically at the ten year point, would you have year by year records of those costs for years 1 to 10, if you needed to file them?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, so again the time periods are getting so long now.  I don't know if the corporate records would hold ten years of history, because there is even just -- corporate records after seven years are just destroyed in general.

So the question becomes: at what point in time are we doing these statements, and therefore how far back do you look in history --


MS. FRY:  Are you saying you're not sure?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, it depends.  If it is past the statute of limitations of holding information, I can't guarantee I will have ten years of history when we may destroy records after seven years.

MS. SPOEL:  How can you possibly then propose to stay out for ten years, if you won't have ten years of information to provide to the Board?

You can't surely have a rate timing -- times to visit the Board that is longer than you keep corporate records for.

MR. BERTOLO:  So I presume we would have seven years of records, then.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MS. FRY:  But you could keep ten years of records, if you needed to, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Again, yes, we can set up another system to track additional costs which add costs to the overall, you know, regulatory oversight to doing this.

MR. LEE:  May I add something that might be helpful?

I think part of the confusion lies with how we allocate the costs, because I think one of the things that I want to ensure is that we don't double count, in terms of charging costs.

So I'm going to go back to myself as an example.  If my costs are allocated between Tx and Dx, I don't want to allocate something to Hydro One Woodstock and have it recovered there, because then I would be -- then I am actually, you know -- I am going to say cross subsidization, in that Woodstock ratepayers are paying for something that Hydro One Dx is already paying for.

So I don't want that, and I think this is where the allocation comes into play, where from a financial statement record, we could allocate.  But we wouldn't want to push things into an area where there could be confusion in terms of how the numbers are interpreted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do I understand correctly, then, that you -- that despite the Board's order in the Norfolk decision, you are not currently separately recording the costs to serve the customers in Woodstock, all of the costs?  You are not currently doing that, are you?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Can you refer us to the document number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking you what you are recording.

MR. LEE:  I believe I've answered you in terms of the work program, that we're recording the work that we're doing in the Woodstock territory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I'm a little taken aback, so I am just going to find the reference here, if I can.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, I think the confusion here, Madam Chair, is whether we're talking about Woodstock or Norfolk, because I had heard references to Norfolk from Mr. Shepherd, as well as Woodstock.  So maybe Mr. Shepherd could clarify, are you asking about Woodstock?  Because that transaction hasn't closed yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  You know, Mr. Nettleton professes that he doesn't understand, but the reason why the application says you are going to keep separate records is because the Norfolk decision, which you've quoted in your own application, says you have to.

So now we find out that you're not actually keeping full records, or you're not planning to keep full records for Woodstock.  So I am asking, are you keeping full records for Norfolk?

MR. NETTLETON:  So Madam Chair, on that basis I am going to object, because if Mr. Shepherd is using this proceeding to effectively ask questions about compliance with a Board decision that relates to the Norfolk case, where a condition of the approval reads that "with its first rates application that it includes costs associated with NPDI's service area, HONI file a report with the Board delineating the costs of NPDI's service area tracked separately", and it goes on, "the savings achieved as a result of the acquisition and the portion of NPDI and HONI's costs that are incremental costs incurred in connection with the acquisition".

It doesn't say anything here about "you shall keep separate financial records audited as they relate to NPDI".  That is the point that Mr. Bertolo has raised, about redundancy and trying to achieve efficiencies.

I don't hear any of the witnesses saying that there is an inconsistency with what has been said on the record in this application with respect to the statements found at page 23 of tab A -- or tab 2, schedule -- Exhibit A, schedule 1.

It strikes me that we should get back to the application and leave Norfolk alone.  It is a condition of the Board.  It's a matter that Hydro One is obligated to maintain for the purposes of the Norfolk decision.

Let's move on and deal with the application that is before us.

MS. LONG:  I understand your point.  I am trying to understand, though, with respect to this application when you state separate financial records for WHSI, I am trying to understand what that means.

So forget the references to Norfolk and what is happening there.  I am trying to get a clear picture from the witnesses as to what they propose by that statement.  And I think, Mr. Lee, what you are saying is you're talking about separate -- I forget the word you used, but capital projects, you are tracking that separately, but I must admit I am still not clear on what you are proposing to allocate and what you are proposing we would see.  If I asked you when you came back in ten years to show me the separate financial records for WHSI, what would I see?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Hi, Madam Chair.  So if I could take you to table 2, which is the Exhibit A-2, schedule 1, page 8.

So on the second row, which is the Hydro One forecast, that is what we're trying to replicate in terms of our financial reporting of what we should be able to see from an actual perspective, the work that we would be doing to service the territory, which is the operating, maintenance costs, as well as the second line under the capital heading, which is the Hydro One cap ex spend by -- and again by sustainment, development, and operating costs, the normal cut that we would normally provide the OEB.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am more than a little lost.  I had understood that the Board had made very clear in both Norfolk and the Haldimand decisions that if Hydro One wants to acquire and fold in smaller utilities it could do so, but it had to keep a separate record of the costs to serve those customers and track them separately.

It sounds like what you are telling me is that you interpret that as tracking only some of the costs and not all the way through the period.  Am I right?

MR. LEE:  Sorry, what do you mean by "through all the period"?  I'm not quite sure I understand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You appear to be saying, well, we only have to really track the separate costs the year before or the year of rebasing.  We don't have to keep the records in the meantime.  That's what I understood you to say.  Is that not right?

MR. BERTOLO:  So if I can try.  My interpretation of the other hearings -- and we don't want to go back to them, but if we look at them there seemed to be a focus on acquisition and transaction costs, so there was reference to tracking those.  So fine, we will be able to track those costs and report them back to the OEB.

The only other reference point that exists for a comparator, because they were trying to assess savings, would be against the status quo, because the savings, there is no entity going forward to baseline against.

So table 2, which we have replicated in all our applications, provides the base line for it.  That is the status quo scenario.

So what we're looking to do is to demonstrate that, yes, there were savings that accrued during the transaction, because that's the part the Board seemed to be interested in proving out.

The rate application at the time will be underpinned by the normal costs that would be associated with underpinning those rate classes in normal rate design.

And because we don't know what the design is in year five, six, ten, we're not sure which year it is going to be, whatever the regime is at that point in time, the evidence will support it.

So if we need costs that go back five years, fine.  If it goes beyond that, there's a question of relevance to it, but we'll have enough evidence to support it.

And if I take you to Cambridge, for example, another hearing, there were no reporting requirements at all in that one.

So there is a question of consistency here, and again trying to put efficiency into the sector.

If we're trying to report, we're suggesting a piece which we would report against here so that we can consistently go forward in all of the applications and make sure we build the systems appropriately to meet that reporting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that come year ten you will have whatever information the Board thinks it needs at the time, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, whatever the rate regime requires at that point to underpin an application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to know whether you are asking this Board to order something different than it ordered in the past two acquisitions.

MR. BERTOLO:  I am asking them to approve the application as is.  I'm not asking them to order anything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the application asking for something different than was ordered in Norfolk and Haldimand?  And so here's what I want to know, whether it is different.  With its first rates application that includes costs associated with NPDI -- that is Norfolk's service area -- HONI will file a report with the Board delineating the costs for NPDI's service area tracked separately.

Do you propose to do that in the case of Woodstock?  Yes or no?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, we'll have to track those costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that is all costs associated with serving Woodstock customers, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.  To underpin a rate filing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so if you're recording those costs every year, all costs -- I didn't hear any exceptions -- all costs associated with serving those customers, if you're recording that year, there is no reason why you couldn't file that with the Board.  Right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Other than it's another report and I go back to consistency in the sector.  There's no indication of that in Cambridge, so I am trying to understand where we're reporting it to, and you have a single data point coming in to the OEB.

If it was a requirement of all distributors, I would say that would be welcome, so we could all share that information and all learn from it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, it is a requirement for all distributors, isn't it?  Every year they have to file --


MR. BERTOLO:  Not in the Cambridge MAAD application; there was no reporting requirement in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, help me to understand this.  Every year, the Board does an econometric model in which it takes a full set of costs from all of the utilities, all of the LDCs, and compares their productivity.

Woodstock is reporting in that today.  You are going to gather the information that you would report in that.  I'm asking why can't you report it the same as everybody else.

MR. BERTOLO:  Because it is not like everybody else, because now it is part of a larger organization.  You're comparing apples to oranges.  It is not a separate organization any more.  It is part of a large, Hydro One Networks.

So Networks participates in that study.  Woodstock would not participate, except for the fact that it is under Hydro One Networks because it is consolidated into the larger entity, which is the whole premise of doing consolidation.




MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to move on?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I am.  I wonder if you could turn to A-2-1, page 20.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, A-2-1?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 20; do you have that?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now this is a sample of the earnings sharing calculation that you are proposing, right?

MR. LEE:  It is hypothetical, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you look at note 2, you see Hydro One Distribution actual ROE.  So this is what you were saying earlier, that as far as you're concerned, the earnings sharing is based on Hydro One Networks having distribution earnings in excess of 300 basis points, not Woodstock, right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the allowed ROE then would be the allowed ROE for each year, right?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then what happens is, in one year you have over-earnings, let's say -- this is a hypothetical now -- you have over-earnings.

The next year you apply for -- to return the share to ratepayers.  And the year after that is actually when you return it.  So that is why there is a two-year lag, right?

MR. LEE:  Yes.  That is what is illustrated in the table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that would normally be the case, right?  You couldn't return it faster than the third year, because you have to apply and get approval, right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have this number, $2.25 that you are giving back to this hypothetical ratepayer that is paying $20 a month.  Where did that number come from?

MR. LEE:  This is just hypothetical.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, did you calculate it?

MR. LEE:  No.  This table is just illustrative, to show you kind of the mechanics of how it would work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you have a 1.5 percent earnings in excess of 300 basis points.  So it is easy to calculate what the impact is, right?

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd are you asking the witness to go through and show how the number $2.25 was derived?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.

MR. LEE:  Sorry, I missed the question.  Can you repeat it, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your counsel clarified.  I am asking you to tell me how the $2.25 was derived.

MR. LEE:  It was illustrative.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is out of the air?

MR. LEE:  Correct.  Again, this table is to show you the mechanics of how it would work.  Not calculate --


MS. LONG:  So the $2.25 bears no relationship to any of the other numbers in the column; is that what you're saying?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept, subject to check, that if you were actually 1.5 percent above the threshold, on Woodstock's current revenue requirement, the number would actually be 37 cent, and not $2.25?  Will you accept that, subject to check?

MR. LEE:  Okay, I will take that as subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, what this says is that you use the Hydro One Distribution ROE, but who gets the rate rider?  Is it only the Woodstock customers, or is it all of the Hydro One customers?

MR. LEE:  It should be all of the Hydro One customers, based on the mechanics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh?  So how does that protect the Woodstock customers?

MR. LEE:  They're part of the earnings sharing mechanism, and -- I am not sure I understand.  They are protected in terms of, if we've over earned one year, that we're giving back the over-earnings to them with a two-year lag.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Actually you're giving them back a little less than one percent of the over -- of half of the over-earnings, and the rest you are giving to your other customers, your legacy customers; right?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure I understand that.

And I am going to ask, at the risk of -- I don't want to get into a big song and dance again, but I do want to ask this: is the current cost-allocation methodology that you refer to in your application here at -- I am trying to think of what page we were on -- page 23, A-2-1.

That common corporate cost allocation model that you refer to there, is that the same as you're using to allocate costs between Hydro One Networks and Hydro One Brampton currently?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  So the main segments are transmission and distribution, but there are some portions that go to Brampton.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is all part of the same cost allocation model.  It also allocates to telecom and things like that, right?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good; thank you.  Now let me turn to the ICM.

I provided you with two pieces of paper from EB-2011-0207.  The first is page 134 of the application, and the second is page 136 of the application.

Do you have those?

MR. LEE:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if we could mark that as an exhibit.

MS. HELT:  Certainly.  We will mark this as Exhibit K2.2, and the exhibit will be comprised of both sheets, pages 134 and 136 of appendix E-1 to EB-2011-0207.

EXHIBIT No. K2.2:  Pages 134 and 136 of appendix E-1 to EB-2011-0207

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this says on the first of these pages, marked page 134 of A-61, that the incremental revenue requirement for the incremental capital module is 495,374; do you see that?

MR. LEE:  Yes, that's the cell marked AJ; is that correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not necessarily what was finally approved, is it?  It is just what you applied for.

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Because nothing turns on the actual dollars; I'm actually more concerned about the concepts.

Will you accept that the number that you are collecting is based on a 9.58 percent ROE?  That's on line Q.

MR. LEE:  Yes, that's what's in the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And will you agree that the weighted average depreciation rate for this incremental capital expenditure is four percent?

MR. LEE:  Yes, it's approximately four percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why I ask that -- that's a 25-year life, correct?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you use straight-line depreciation for something like this?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you merge the books together, it isn't necessarily true that this asset will continue to be a 25-year asset, is it?  It will be whatever Hydro One's rule is.

MR. LEE:  It will be part of the depreciation study that Dr. White performs for Hydro One Networks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it could change, right?

MR. LEE:  It could, or it could not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that if Hydro One has an expenditure like this currently, the life is 50 years?  Is that right?

MR. LEE:  Again, it is based on a portfolio of assets.  So specifically I am not sure about this asset itself, because we look at things on a group basis.  So it's a group depreciation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you stopped pooling.  Are you still pooling assets?

MR. LEE:  My understanding is, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  I guess you're under US GAAP you're allowed to, so all right.  I understand.

So I have, I guess, three questions about this.  You're collecting about half-a-million dollars a year from Woodstock ratepayers right now, and you want to continue to do that for ten years; right?

MR. LEE:  Sorry, this was the ask, in terms of what was approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, whatever.  Whatever the number is, you want to continue that number for ten years, right?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if the billing determinants go up
-- this is a variable rate -- if the billing determinants go up, then that would increase every year.  Right?

MR. LEE:  In terms of how much we collect?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the amount -- and the ROE would not change during that period for this collection.  You're not proposing to adjust the ROE to current ROE or future ROE, are you?

MR. LEE:  I believe the way the mechanic works is that when the ICM is set and it is continued it is basically whatever is embedded in this calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're proposing to continue to get a 9.58 percent ROE for ten years on these assets?

MR. LEE:  That is the nature of the extension, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And as an actual fact, the rate base for this asset will go down each year by 4 percent, right?

MR. LEE:  In terms of mathematically, yes, because it is being amortized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at the end of -- in year ten it will actually be 60 percent of its current level, right?

MR. LEE:  Mathematically, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it is true, isn't it, that if you continue to have growth in billing determinants as you had in the past in Woodstock, that will be somewhere around 115 percent of the current level in year ten.  Is that fair?  Roughly.

MR. LEE:  Sure, okay, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And does that mean that mathematically you will then in year ten be collecting twice as much as your actual revenue requirement for those assets, roughly?

MR. LEE:  Again, you're speaking hypothetical.  So if those held true we would be -- in a sense the regulatory account would be over-collected and we would then be forced into a credit position, which we would then seek to refund to the customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're not proposing to -- so you're proposing to collect what I calculate is about a million-and-a-half dollars plus whatever the ROE impact is extra over the next ten years, and you're proposing to give it back in year ten, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  So I guess when we take a look at this asset in isolation, then, yes.  Like, what you've said could hold true if the forecast -- if what you're forecasting holds true, in terms of, we didn't -- we didn't get 500K.  This was set at the time when the asset was put in service, with an intention to go in for 2015.

So because this thing is not in rate base it will be stranded, because we're not rebasing, so the only logical step to ensure that Woodstock Hydro is held whole is to continue this rate rider.

MS. LONG:  But Mr. Lee, how do you deal with the concern that the Board tried to address in our April 30th letter, where there was an extension for five years because the thinking was that you would not over-collect in five years, but as Mr. Shepherd has put to you, there is -- it looks like in ten years you are going to over-collect by quite an amount.

Is your only proposal that at the end of year ten you are going to refund it back?

MR. LEE:  So my understanding is that the regulatory account reporting will be reporting that annually, and then, should the amount be in a credit position, then we could be asked to refund it earlier.

And I guess what I'm saying is that we don't know exactly what will happen in year ten, whether or not that amount will be over or under.

So in terms of the amount owed to ratepayers, after year ten, it could be earlier if the OEB deemed that the amount is too high of a credit position.

MS. LONG:  So the safeguard is if you came in in year seven for your price cap IR adjustment, and the Panel determined that you were over-earning, then it would be refunded back at that point?  Is that what you're proposing?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just clarify something.  You said at the end of year ten you wouldn't know whether you over- or under-collected.  But you actually do know, right?  I mean, you can predict it exactly, because it is a declining rate base.  You will be collecting too much, and you know it right now.  Right?

MR. LEE:  Based on that declining asset, if you look at the asset in isolation alone, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is what the ICM does.  It looks at it in isolation, doesn't it?

MR. LEE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why wouldn't you then, instead, propose to this Board that the ICM be amended to decline as expected so that you're only collecting what the real rate base amount is each year?  Why wouldn't you do that for ten years?  It wouldn't be hard to do, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  Yes.  In this case we normally look at things in a pool of -- a pooled basis, not just one individual rider on its own.

So in terms of, you know, what's required, we will look for guidance, in terms of, you know, the next steps in terms of actions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand your answer, sorry.

Are you willing to propose a declining ICM rate rider for the next ten years?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, this comes as a new proposal to the witnesses.  It may be best, instead of having this proposal asked on the stand, that we break for lunch, and Mr. Lee can at least talk to his superiors about this proposal that Mr. Shepherd is making and determine whether it is acceptable or not, and if not, the reasons for it.  There seems to be at least some reason to allow Mr. Lee to give consideration to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no problem with that, Madam Chair.  I did advise my friend and his witness before the previous break that I was going to ask this question exactly for this reason.  But I understand he's been busy and he is in the middle of being a witness.  I get that.  And if he wants to answer this after lunch, that's fine.

MR. NETTLETON:  Apparently we misunderstood, because what I had understood was the questions were going to be around the rate, the depreciation rate, and the calculation of the depreciation rate in the schedules.  It has gone a little further.  That's fine --


MS. LONG:  Well, that's fine.  I'm not -- based on the conversation that the two of you had -- not going to allow Mr. Lee the time that he needs in order to contemplate that.  So if it is best done over lunch, then we will allow you that time to do that.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I can probably finish before lunch, unless you want to --


MS. LONG:  No.  I want to keep going.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is just so exciting, right?

MS. LONG:  Well, we have Mr. -- Mr. Harding, you have some questions as well?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  All right.  So I want to ask two questions about reliability and customer service.  And I am not going to tread the same grounds we talked about in January, but I do want to ask, now that we're talking about ten years rather than five, you proposed a three-year test for whether you're meeting reliability and customer-service thresholds, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  That was the commercial arrangement, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is what you're proposing to this Board, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  That was the commercial arrangement in the share purchase agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so that's nothing to do with this Board?

MR. BERTOLO:  I am just stating a fact.  It is in the share purchase agreement between ourselves and the city of Woodstock.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking whether you are proposing that arrangement to this Board.

MR. BERTOLO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you were.

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  It's not in the application anywhere.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. I am looking at A-1-1, page 7 where it says -- is it A-1-1, page 7?

I am quite sure I saw in here that it said that you were proposing it.  No?  All right.

Let me -- obviously the ratepayers are concerned that a $200,000 payment to the municipality doesn't help them much.  And doesn't matter to you because $200,000 is nothing.  But we've talked about that before.

What I am concerned with is whether, given now that you have a ten-year period where these ratepayers will basically have to be concerned about ten years before you come back to the Board, will you now agree to say that until you meet those tests on a cumulative basis, the three-year average test that you talked about, that you will extend the rate freeze for Woodstock customers and the one percent?  Will you agree to that?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Madam Chair, I am having again difficulty with the question.  This is not a negotiation.  This is not a matter of asking a witness to commit to something that is not on the face of the record.

The record is clear in terms of what the proposal is.  The amended application has no reference at all to the suggestion that Mr. Shepherd is now making.

Mr. Shepherd may want to, in argument, suggest that that is something that should happen, that you, the Board should impose that type of requirement upon Hydro One for approval of this MAAD application.

But having a negotiation effectively through cross-examination, in my respectful opinion, is not helpful, or a good use of this Board's time.

MS. LONG:  Well, I expect Mr. Shepherd is asking the question because of the extension to ten years, and that is the premise on which he is basing his question.

However, it may be an issue for argument.  But I think Mr. Shepherd is probably putting it to the witness so that the witness has an opportunity, before he sees it for the first time in argument, to respond.

And the response may be no, that is not contemplated by this application, this is not what we're intending to do.  So Mr. Bertolo does not have to negotiate a new agreement here.  He can simply answer the question.

MR. BERTOLO:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, no you're not interested in doing that?

MR. BERTOLO:  No, the agreement stands as it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Actually, Madam Chair the reason I raised it is because my friend would complain if I put it in argument, having not put it to the witnesses.  And so I wanted to make sure I got to the witness first, so now I can put it in argument.

All right.  Still on reliability and customer service, you're proposing to replace the Beachville operating centre with a new operating centre in Woodstock; right?

MR. BERTOLO:  That's contemplated, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We talked about that, and I am not going to go over that again.

But I had one question about that that I don't think I nailed down before, and that is:  When you opened the Beachville operating centre, was that referred to in an agreement with any entity that sold you a LDC at that time?

MR. BERTOLO:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Okay.  So you didn't have anything comparable to what you have now with Woodstock, where you are promising them a new operating centre, where ten years ago you promised somebody else a new operating centre and now you are moving to Woodstock.  That is not the case, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  My understanding is that Beachville was built in the 1950s; I wasn't even born then.

So I'm sorry, I don't have any recollection of any transaction at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was definitely born then, but --[Laughter]  Okay, so let me talk about CDM.

And I have seen the material you provided, thank you very much. I only have two questions about CDM that I want to pursue.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, sorry to interrupt, but there was another document that you requested be placed on the record for CDM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, yes.

MS. LONG:  Right.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think that is what Mr. Shepherd is referring to.

MS. LONG:  The conservation and demand management 2013 annual report for Woodstock Hydro Services Inc.; can we mark that?

MS. HELT:  Yes, that will be Exhibit K2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  conservation and demand management 2013 annual report for Woodstock Hydro Services Inc.

MR. NETTLETON:  It may be useful for Mr. Lee to be able to explain where in the report his calculations -- or what part of the report he used for purposes of his calculation, which was, I think, the original concern that this was new information that was coming --


MS. LONG:  You had given us a reference before, I think, Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  Yes, I was referencing the table --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I found the reference.

MS. LONG:  You're fine with that?  Okay.

MR. LEE:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I didn't hear that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I found the reference easily.  But if you want to explain it further, by all means go ahead.

MR. LEE:  No.  It was really for your purpose.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Then so what I want to ask about is two things.  First of all -- and I am going to tread delicately on this, because I have asked to see the white paper and been told no.

Although there is -- but the subjects of the white paper, including CDM programs, are relevant.  So I want to ask the question.

You say in your application that this application promotes CDM; right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I correct that management of Woodstock expressed concerns that that would not be the case; is that true?

MR. LEE:  That I am not aware of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so my second question is: Woodstock Hydro has been more successful than most utilities in CDM; right?

MR. LEE:  Again, as I stated earlier, it's because of the cumulative effect in terms of the reporting requirements.

To my knowledge, from 2015 and onwards, there's no longer going to be that cumulative reporting, so I believe it will be very difficult for future LDCs to achieve that level of success.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I take it that that whereas Woodstock was an above-average performing on CDM up to the end of 2014 -- you'll agree with that, right?

MR. LEE:  As it pertains to the numbers?  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You do not expect that to be the case, now that Woodstock would be part of Hydro One; is that correct?

MR. BERTOLO:  So, Mr. Shepherd, if I could take you back.  We stated earlier the promotion of CDM is the fact you're going to get the best of both worlds now.

So Hydro One's focus is primarily on residential.
Woodstock had tremendous success in industrial.  That's wonderful.  We will take the best of both.  And it will just promote -- because one of the things of CDM is cross fertilization amongst all LDCs.  There is an encouragement of sharing information, technologies, ways of effecting CDM.

So this is nothing more than they will join the Hydro One program, and it should take the best of both worlds.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't answer my question.  My question was a very simple one: will the Woodstock results, the CDM results in the area that is currently the Woodstock franchise area, continue to be better than the rest of the province or not?

MR. BERTOLO:  Given they didn't do much on residential, it should be better because they will actually benefit from the Hydro One residential programs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask whether it would be better on residential than the past; I asked will their results be better than other LDCs, as it has been in the last four years.


MR. BERTOLO:  You're asking me to forecast, and I am telling you there is a reasonable probability that because they will have access to our programs, which are more fulsome than what they had, there is a reasonable probability that they will continue to be better than other LDCs.  If they already have a grounding in the commercial, it should just get better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, because that is not what I heard Mr. Lee say.  What I heard Mr. Lee say is they can't possibly perform -- starting in 2015, they can't possibly perform as well as they performed in the past.  Isn't that what he said?

MR. LEE:  That wasn't what I said.  I said to achieve 177 percent of target, that it will be very difficult to achieve that level.

I didn't say they would not have success.  I just said that the over a hundred percent, because of the cumulative reporting, that helps add to the base.  And that is why the 177 is very staggering.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said in your application that what you want to do with Woodstock is to rationalize their programs.  That is the terms you used, "rationalize those programs".

I take it that means you would terminate their programs and replace them with the Hydro One programs.

MR. BERTOLO:  No, absolutely not, because that just goes with smart grid.

Rationalizing is an elimination of duplication of programs.

So if we're both running the same program, we'll rationalize it, meaning we will take the program and make it one, which means you're probably eliminating maybe not 100 percent of the costs, because it depends on what projects they have actually committed to and can we get out of those projects.  Do we change the Hydro One projects and pick up the Woodstock ones if they're better?

Rationalizing is just looking at what is the best of breed between the two of them and taking the best of the breed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you want to get out of a project they're already in?

MR. BERTOLO:  Because if it is a duplication and you have an out, why wouldn't you?  Why would you waste the money?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it's saving electricity.

MR. BERTOLO:  It depends what --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's what you're supposed to do.

MR. BERTOLO:  -- the program is.  That's my point.  You will rationalize it.  You will look at all of the dimensions of the program.  If it makes sense to get out, you'll get out.  If it doesn't make sense, you'll extend it.  I was talking in generalities between CDM and smart grid.  We talked about all of this.  This is part of consolidation.  It is rationalizing the duplication that happens in the sector.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what you said earlier was that you're actually going to fold their programs into yours, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Our program is larger than theirs.  If you look at the four corners of it, it would be folded into ours.  I can't see taking a $10 million program and sticking it into a $100,000 program.  I think it will be the other way around.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if they're doing something that you are not doing, you're going to stop it, right?  You're not going to continue that.

MR. BERTOLO:  I said we have to look at the individual elements, and we will take the best of breed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, but you have known what they were doing all along.  I mean, your service territory surrounds them.

MR. BERTOLO:  That's right.  Surround.  I'm not in their --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't you take their best already?

MR. BERTOLO:  Because there is a difference of different LDCs run different programs.  I don't manage their company.  They have the right to choose whatever programs they want to do.

They make management decisions.  We don't control management at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking why Hydro One, if they're doing something that is good, why aren't you already doing it?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, the question has been asked and answered.  What Mr. Bertolo just said was that it was Woodstock's program.  The transaction has not closed. They're a separate entity.  They're operating today.  What Mr. Bertolo said was that the programs are not going to be evaluated for best of breed until after the close of the transaction.

I don't know how or why a question about why hasn't Hydro One looked at this before now is relevant to the transaction that is currently before the Board.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, how does that fall into the no-harm test on us looking at the transaction on a go-forward basis for Woodstock ratepayers?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am raising it is because I think what's actually going to happen is that Hydro One is going to terminate all the Woodstock programs and replace them with their own.  And if Woodstock has successful programs, as they have -- they were the best performer in the province -- Hydro One will simply ignore it, and that is what I am trying to get the witness to admit, and he doesn't want to admit it.  He says, I don't know, I don't know.


MR. NETTLETON:  Which I say is asked and answered.  If he wants to make argument regarding his beliefs and his views about the vagaries of rationalization as explained by Mr. Bertolo, he is welcome to do so in argument.

But this is not helpful.  This exercise of trying to browbeat a witness into some level of admission that he's not prepared to make is not helpful.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy to move on, Madam Chair.  I don't think I was browbeating the witness at all.  I think I was trying to get a straight answer.

I am just -- I just have one other question.  I am going to come back to the ESM.  And can you go to A-2-1, page 20, please.

Do you have that?  You're expecting to save some money here, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  That's the premise of consolidation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Am I right in understanding that on your proposed ESM -- on what we think the ESM says, the ROE would be in the high 20s, early 30s in years six to ten, and you would be sharing earnings with Woodstock customers.

But you are proposing not to do that, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Our interpretation of the policy is that it's not that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so no matter how much you earn from the Woodstock -- how much you over-earn on the Woodstock component, no matter how much, however high it is, the Woodstock customers will only get roughly one percent of that.

MR. BERTOLO:  That's one side of the scenario.

So if the risk, as we illustrated in table 2, that the costs are much more than what we anticipated, then the customers get rate certainty for the five years and then a price cap mechanism going out.

So their rates will have been frozen since 2012 since the last -- or 2013, the last time they came in.  So that's a huge savings for those customers over that entire period of time.

MR. LEE:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, can you show us where the 20 percent -- you quoted a number.  I just want to make sure I understood where you're seeing the over-earn from Woodstock Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  If you're saving an average of $2.7 million in O&M, which is about, give or take, 35 percent of revenue requirement, and you're saving on capital on a cumulative basis, which also is going to drive down the capital cost, the cost of capital and depreciation, et cetera, if you're saving both of those amounts, then your result is going to be that a utility that is already making 15.65 percent ROE is going to make considerably more than that over this period.  Isn't that right?

MR. LEE:  Well, but again, you're looking at it from a non-integrated -- like, you're looking at the O&M costs as, without any type of overhead.

So our costs, the corporate costs, nothing is in there, because we have basically stripped that out because it is non-incremental.

So what table 2 -- and I think that is what, Mr. Shepherd, you're looking at, table 2, so the table 2 OM&A that is in the evidence states, here's the cost without any type of overheads or burdens.

And that's the -- what we've stripped out is the incremental costs that we can save from a status quo scenario, which is the stand-alone.

So by trying to calculate -- what I'm basically saying is by trying to calculate an ROE using that method is false, because it is not the true cost to serve.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're not actually going to -- when you are recording the costs associated with serving these customers, it's not going to actually look like these.  Even if this is exactly what happens, the costs to serve them will be much higher than this Hydro One forecast.  Right?

MR. BERTOLO:  I'm sorry, I don't follow that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because you've said this Hydro One forecast doesn't include overheads.  But the status quo scenario does, doesn't it?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  The status quo there looked at OM&A costs specific -- that we could glean from the budgets that we were able to look at in the data room, to come up with the status quo forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it includes overheads, all OM&A?

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't -- no, I don't think it has all the overheads in it, because they have common costs above that.  So they weren't necessarily allocated between the two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you to undertake to check that, because I went back and looked at the previous rate case to see what their OM&A is like, and these look pretty clear to be similar to what their OM&A is, which means it is everything.  Isn't it?

You can undertake to go check, if you wish.

MR. BERTOLO:  Okay.  We will undertake.

MS. HELT:  Jay, can you just repeat the exact undertaking so it is clear on the record?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I would like the witness to undertake to confirm whether the status quo scenario excludes any component of OM&A; i.e., overheads, any part of overheads.

MR. NETTLETON:  And to do so by comparing the numbers there with what is found in the annual reports of Woodstock Hydro?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know where you got the data, so you are going to look at the data and you are going to decide whether it includes all OM&A or just some OM&A.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, the reason for the clarification was that Mr. Shepherd went on past that and said, I think if you check the annual reports the numbers look very similar.


So I think that was the undertaking that Mr. Bertolo made, was that he would go and check against the annual report filings to see what they resemble, if there's similarity or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what I'm asking, I'm sorry.  Madam Chair, A, I didn't talk about the annual reports.  What I talked about was the rate cases.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, I meant the rate cases, Mr. Shepherd.  I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the rate cases they have OM&A, and these are similar numbers to the OM&A for Woodstock.

I assume that my friends have data that is similar.  Wherever they got the data, they will know whether it has overheads or not, and then I will include it -- if they say, no, it doesn't include overheads, then I am going to include in argument comparison to past data.  If they say it does include overheads, then we have a comparison in which the savings aren't real.

MR. LEE:  So Madam Chair, maybe I can help to alleviate the undertaking.

So, yes, the last Woodstock filing in 2011 was for $4 million of OM&A.  So it is -- I believe the numbers are comparable, and they include a stand-alone Woodstock entity operating.  Is that your question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.  So then --


MS. LONG:  Do you need to confirm that, or you are clear on that, Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  I am clear that the numbers -- so let me repeat, just to make sure we're on the same page.

So the status quo numbers in table 2 are consistent with what was filed for the Woodstock Hydro cost of service in 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they include all OM&A?

MR. LEE:  They include all OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome, thank you.  And the Hydro One forecast does not include all OM&A that will be allocated to Woodstock, because it does not include the overhead component?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEE:  So your statement is correct, that the second line on the Hydro One forecast does not include any allocation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have a forecast of the Hydro One costs for those ten years that does include overheads?

MR. LEE:  No, we don't, as the study that we would undertake for costs allocation hasn't been done yet.  So we don't have a forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd we can do away with that undertaking, then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, we can do away with that undertaking.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you for your patience, Madam Chair.
Questions by the Board:


MS. LONG:  Mr. Lee, I just have one question for you, going back to something Mr. Shepherd asked.

In years 6 to 10, is the proposal that the -- that Woodstock ratepayers will be, I guess, put in a different rate class, in an all-encompassing Hydro One rate class?

I am trying to understand the rational for the earnings sharing mechanism being spread across all your customers, all legacy customers, as opposed to the earnings sharings going to the Woodstock customers.

I am trying to understand your rationale.

MR. LEE:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  Are you referring to table 5?

MS. LONG:  I am not actually referring to a table.  When we talk about earnings sharing, what I understood you to say to Mr. Shepherd was that the 50 percent that goes back to ratepayers goes back to Hydro One customers -- all of your customers, and not just the Woodstock Hydro customers.

I am trying to understand what your rationale is for that.  Why wouldn't it just go back to the Hydro One customers -- sorry, the Woodstock customers?

Is it because, in years six to ten, the Woodstock customers are no longer going to be Woodstock customers in Woodstock -- you know, unto their own?  Are they going to be spread broadly in the Hydro One rate classes, and that is your rationale for doing this?

MR. LEE:  So from a financial calculation perspective, the reason why we stated that is because a ROE can only be calculated on the consolidated entity.  Because again there is no stand-alone Woodstock Hydro to calculate a ROE, because their rate base, their capital structure is all rolled into the Hydro One Networks umbrella.

MS. LONG:  Okay, but ROE aside, where are these Woodstock ratepayers -- how are their rates going to be derived?

I am not asking you what the rates are, but are they going to be in a Hydro One, let's say, urban class in years six to ten?  Or are they still going to be in a Woodstock Hydro rate class?

MR. LEE:  I think we have frozen them, because they are -- based on again table 5, what we show is in year six that the $20 hypothetical view is -- that is our starting point.  So nothing has changed for Woodstock Hydro at that point in time.

MS. LONG:  So from years six to ten, they are still in a Woodstock Hydro rate class?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes. Until we harmonize them, they stay their own rate class.

MS. LONG:  And then your reasoning, if I understand you correctly, is strictly based on the ROE?  That is why you're taking the position that the earnings sharing mechanism is spread across all of your customers, because you can only come up with a ROE for the consolidated entity, if we can call it that?

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  That being said, Mr. Harding, do you know how long you are going to be, how long your questions will take?

MR. HARDING:  I think my glycemic index is about to fall below the --


MS. LONG:  We're going to take a lunch break.  I am just trying to plan the rest of the afternoon.

MR. HARDING:  I am not responsible for the whole afternoon, but give me a good hour.

MS. LONG:  An hour?  Then what we're going to do is break now.

Mr. Nettleton, perhaps you and Mr. Lee can have a discussion about the proposal that Mr. Shepherd put to the witness, and we can come back and Mr. Shepherd can ask his questions on that.

Then we will move to Mr. Harding, and then Board Staff.

MS. HELT:  Board Staff doesn't have any questions.

MS. LONG:  Does not have any questions?  The Panel will have some questions, and then we will take a break long enough for you, Mr. Nettleton, and Mr. Rodger to prepare your submissions and we will hear those this afternoon.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So we are going to take a break until two o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:09 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Nettleton, any preliminary issues?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The only preliminary matters arising are, I believe Mr. Lee and Mr. Bertolo just have some follow-up regarding Mr. Shepherd's proposal on the ICM, and I think Mr. Lee can speak to that, and I believe Mr. Bertolo has something also to add.

MR. BERTOLO:  So Madam Chair, if I may.  In my discussion previously and, in particular, to a question from Ms. Spoel about corporate records, it became clear to me that I was referencing our corporate records retention policy, which is seven years, and our regulatory folks reminded me that that is the world I live in.  But in regulatory world that policy does not apply.

So we do and have kept records for well beyond that period of time.  So if there is a need for records to be retained beyond that, absolutely, it is not a problem.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  So I believe we left off in discussion about the ICM and whether or not, I guess -- the recalculation of it; is that correct, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LEE:  Okay.  So I believe I'm authorized to commit us to review this ICM when -- upon closing of the books and we have a chance to take a look at their financial records and make the analysis.  So I am committing Hydro One to provide to the Board an analysis of the ICM, and the, I guess, recalculation of it would, per se, upon closure of the transaction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I am actually still a little in the dark.  It sounds like what the witness is saying is that Hydro One still wants this Board to order a continuation of the existing ICM for ten years, as it has requested, and then subsequently will advise the Board whether it is too much.  Is that right?

MR. LEE:  I think the request is to, yes, approve -- approve the ICM as asked for in the application.  However, we are adding a proposal that we, upon closure, we will file a recalculation of it and then a new determination will be done at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  By the Board or by Hydro One?

MR. LEE:  By the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would make another application to amend the ICM?

MR. LEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  I understand.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. Harding, do you have some questions?

MR. HARDING:  Yes, I do, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Harding:

This is a question to the witnesses, and it seems a little too broadly-based, but why did -- can you help me understand why Hydro One saw it necessary to amend the application?

MR. BERTOLO:  The policy changed on March 26th, and it introduced additional certainties in years six to ten, and our review of it was that it would be applicable to the situation.  So we made the amendment.

MR. HARDING:  And would it have increased the share equity for Woodstock Hydro?  The share price, rather?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  The risk is still the same, the risk we still have, because all of the savings risk is to Hydro One.  The transaction with Woodstock is such that they get rate certainty, the ratepayers get the rate certainty, and the risk still remains as previously contemplated.

MR. HARDING:  So the risk regarding Hydro One, if I could express it in my own way, is neither greater nor less?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.  Correct.

MR. HARDING:  Thank you.  I didn't see any agreement from -- let me ask the question this way.  Woodstock council approved the share purchase agreement, July 9th, 2014.  Could I ask whether or not Woodstock counsel has been appraised of the revised application?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, they have.

MR. HARDING:  When?

MR. RODGER:  The same day it was filed with the Ontario Energy Board by Mr. Nettleton.

MR. HARDING:  And that date was?  Before the ombudsman reported that Hydro One customer service was abysmal?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, we're not here to talk about the ombudsman's report.  The matter before you is in respect of the application for approval of a transaction.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Harding, I agree with that.  We're not going to get into the details of the ombudsman report.  To the extent that you have questions about billing practices and how that would fit into this application on years six to ten, that may be something that you want to ask.  But we're not going to go through the ombudsman report.

That being said, if you want Mr. Rodger to clarify the date upon which Woodstock Hydro became aware of this application, I am sure he will do so on the record.

MR. HARDING:  I didn't hear an answer.  That was my question.  When?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  As I say, the day that Mr. Nettleton filed this with the Board and Woodstock was May 22nd.

MR. NETTLETON:  22nd.

MR. RODGER:  22nd, 2015.

MR. HARDING:  Who did you inform at the city?

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Creery.

MR. HARDING:  And you have no knowledge as to whether he informed the city council or even Woodstock Hydro?

MR. RODGER:  My understanding is that Woodstock Hydro and council are aware of the updated filing.

MR. HARDING:  The council is?  That is your statement?  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.  Through Mr. Creery.

MR. HARDING:  All right, thank you.  I have a question of Mr. Bertolo related to previous testimony.  I just want to make sure that he still stands by it, because it speaks to the issue that we've explored today, issues of conservation and even reliability.

But in previous testimony in the transcript on page 22 where he says, in effect, we don't need anything that the Woodstock staff can provide, do you still stand by that?  We can look at the actual wording.  Page 22, beginning after line 1 on that page, going down where we're talking about -- I'm querying him on what he intends to do with the staff.

And -- because that -- yes.  Supervisory staff not required, or not necessarily, because it exists regionally within the region of Woodstock and can be serviced from there.

So I want to pursue that a little bit, provide some definition with the speaker.  Do you still stand by that statement?

MR. BERTOLO:  So the context of that was identifying directs versus indirect, not individuals.  So it is stating that management roles are already being filled by Hydro One's regional management there.  So those roles are no longer necessary.

MR. HARDING:  And the ones that you are taking basically -- there's a chart.  We don't need to go into it, but basically you're taking the staff that is under union contract, and basically the rest are going, and that's how you're going to pay for -- or pay, in part, for this purchase?  By eliminating those staff?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, let's be clear.  These are roles that we're eliminating, not the staff.  All the staff have job continuity as per the share purchase agreement.

The roles that the management and supervisory ones that are redundant, those roles will be eliminated, and they will be assumed by the Hydro One current roles that exist there.

The people that actually filled those roles will be put into other roles within Hydro One, and it could be in the same jurisdiction.

MR. HARDING:  I don't see that as a guarantee, but that's outside -- they were guaranteed one year, at which point they would have to find something else within Hydro One.  It could be in Kapuskasing, it could be other places.

MR. BERTOLO:  Let me help clarify that.  No, it is a one-year location guarantee for those employees.

So even -- and quite frankly, that one year is done so that as we go through the rationalization of the staff, those people sit tight, and then, if roles are available in that jurisdiction, they will stay there.

If there is other roles that have they have the skill set for, they will be offered those positions.  It also doesn't preclude the ones who want to leave the Woodstock area and take on other roles within Hydro One, because we are a provincial utility, and there is many roles being offered throughout the company as we try to secure expertise to fill the roles.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Bertolo, can I stop you there?  When you say that year is done, is that the year on the share purchase agreement, even though the transaction has not been approved by the OEB?

MR. BERTOLO:  The one -- well, what we have actually done is we've extended it from one year after the integration point, part of this -- so there's legal close, and then we start the integration.

What's happened is, because these transactions have slid in time, to give people more comfort, we have basically stated to them that we will actually start the clock once we actually get to integration.

So that gives them additional time, because we're trying to work through all of lining up all of the different integration, so that it is all as efficient as possible.

So the location guarantee will -- it is a one year, but it is a start point that has slid from what would we'd be able to interpret from the share purchase agreement.

MS. LONG:  Can you explain to me what the date of integration would be?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, it will be -- normally, we do it within the eighteen months, so it depends which transaction.  Normally, they can take up to about a year.

So it will be a year for the integration to happen, and then there will be a one year location guarantee on top of that.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. HARDING:  The section that I want to speak to, and perhaps expand, is that the expertise already exists within Hydro One.

And I want to use that in terms of sentence 5, 6 and 7, basically; that is my take away from that.

So I just wanted to explore with you, and perhaps with Mr. Lee, about the competency of the adjoining jurisdictions when it comes to conservation.

This is a question to Mr. Lee.  In talking about this issue with the 177 percent achievement, what prompted you to go back to Woodstock Hydro and request clarification?

MR. LEE:  Mr. Harding, it was subject to check.

MR. HARDING:  And did my colleague here ask for that?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. LEE:  Yes.

MR. HARDING:  All right.  And do you think that --


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Harding.  Mr. Nettleton has an objection, I think.

MR. NETTLETON:  Just to assist you, Mr. Harding, at page 149 of the transcript you will see that Mr. Shepherd asked Mr. Lee a question that was premised on a "subject to check", and the "subject to check" means that it allows the witness to go and check his response after he provides a response orally.

So that is what Mr. Lee did.  After he gave his response, he went back and he then checked on his answer, and that's when he came to the conclusions he reached and stated this morning.

MR. HARDING:  In speaking to the issue of conclusions, are you saying that Woodstock Hydro did something untoward in reporting those figures in the way they did?

MR. LEE:  I never said that at all.

MR. HARDING:  So wasn't the way that they were reporting the same way Hydro One reported?

MR. LEE:  Yes.

MR. HARDING:  And so when you talk about -- certainly when I was on the Woodstock Hydro board, it became very important to respond, to take up the conservation issue.  Hence, I am very predisposed to see that as one of the important things, particularly for business and industry competitiveness.

When you talked about GM, the install of GM reported multi-year, should it not have been reported multi-year?  Is that what you're saying, it should have been one off, one year only?

MR. LEE:  You're talking about the reporting of incremental versus cumulative.  And under the 2011-2014 CDM reporting structure, they used a cumulative basis.

So anything that you achieved in 2011, you got credit for cumulatively over the four years; so basically a four times multiple.  Another example is if you did in 2012, you would get three years and so forth.

So I am basically saying that they reported correctly and the 177 is a culmination of, you know, the cumulative effect of a one-time project that started pre-2011, but ended in 2011.  But it was a good project because it saved a lot of -- you know, it had a great conservation effect.

MR. HARDING:  Conservation is about multi-year.  When we went into -- when the utility went into GM as it did with other manufacturing plants, it expected that the savings in energy would last more than year one.

So what I am asking you is: should the utility not have done that, taken the cumulative effect of the saving?  Is that your position, that they should not have done that?

MR. LEE:  My position is they filed accordingly and they reported accurately.  It is the framework in the reporting structure.

So again, as I stated in 2015 and onward, the cumulative factor is no longer in place.  So whatever is incremental -- if an initiative happened in 2015, that is credit they would get for it and it would be reported as such.

MR. HARDING:  Why did you save this information to the day we received it today?  Why didn't you do it -- you learned this, what, three weeks ago?  Or when did you learn -- when did you receive the correspondence, and why didn't we see it here to allow us some time to actually work with this data?

MR. LEE:  As I was, you know, preparing myself for the hearing, I noticed that there was a subject to check that I wanted to make sure I could answer, to ensure that I was covered on all bases; so I reached out.

MR. HARDING:  Can you table the correspondence you received, so we might take a look at it to see what it is they're telling you?

MR. LEE:  There's nothing to table.  It was a phone call.

MR. HARDING:  Let's be clear here.  Woodstock Hydro took advantage of the same programs that are province-wide, that were offered to Hydro One.  Is that correct?

MR. LEE:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. HARDING:  These conservation programs were province-wide from 2011 to 2014, and offered to every utility including Hydro One.  Is that a correct statement?

MR. LEE:  I believe so, yes.

MR. HARDING:  Then why didn't you, in telling us what was wrong about the 177, or the kind -- what you suspect might be an incorrect assumption, why didn't you table, or why don't you table Hydro One's figures?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Harding, Madam Chair, again just to put this into context, the whole 177 percent number came about, if you will recall, through an aid to cross that Mr. Shepherd prepared and put to the witnesses on January 15th.

There was a table; I believe it was Exhibit K 4. And I believe that was what prompted the question that Mr. Shepherd asked the witness at page 149 where he asked, subject to check:  Will you agree with me that the CDM level was 177 percent for meeting targets?

So that is the context, Mr. Harding, in which this whole issue arose.

I don't think there is a smoking gun here, sir.

MR. HARDING:  My question was, why -- then let me ask Mr. Lee.

What are your figures for conservation and demand management?

MR. LEE:  That's filed with our 2013 CDM report, and I believe the comparable is about 60 percent, if memory serves me.

MR. HARDING:  And you were reporting in the same means, were you, as Woodstock Hydro.  So you're at 60 percent and Woodstock Hydro is at 177 percent.

MR. LEE:  Yes, I believe we established that in January.

MR. HARDING:  All right.  And so hence my question about all of the expertise that you have available to you does not require -- this is not quite said that way, but does not require any input from the senior staff of Woodstock Hydro.

You have all of the capabilities to deliver on that three-year plan, to deliver conservation and demand management, all of the expertise that you have right now?

MR. LEE:  No, I don't believe that's true.  And I think what Mr. Bertolo alluded to earlier is that we will take the best of both worlds.

And I am not sure that I understand the question.

MR. HARDING:  Well, it's just that on page -- on the updated Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, under 1.3, line 19, it says:  "Hydro One will retain local knowledge from existing Woodstock Hydro staff."

And yet elsewhere, you're saying we will make economies in this by basically terminating all but fourteen or so staff, none of which have experience in conservation management.  It is a senior issue.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, again, Mr. Harding is misinterpreting what response Mr. Bertolo provided.

Mr. Bertolo was very clear that it is not staff that are being terminated.  It is roles and positions within Woodstock Hydro that are being rationalized, because of the duplication that arises with Hydro One.

So I would ask Mr. Harding to be more clear with his questions and premises.

MR. HARDING:  Okay.  Let's take a look at the conservation and demand-side management that you did.

Can you talk about the customers in Woodstock that are served by Hydro One and how many took advantage, let's say, of a coupon program?

MR. BERTOLO:  No.

MR. LEE:  That, I don't have the details for.

MR. HARDING:  And yet you make the claim that you have --


MS. LONG:  Mr. Harding, we want to hear evidence on the transaction going forward and how Woodstock Hydro customers will be affected.

So are you able to frame your questions in that way so that it helps us understand how they will be affected if this transaction is approved?

MR. HARDING:  Yes, I believe I can.

The folks in Woodstock have a conservation mentality.  They have a history.  They were achieving 15 to 20 percent conservation through various programs running back a couple of decades.

So when it comes to looking at a utility, I certainly want to know on behalf of the ratepayers the nature of their commitment and the nature of their expertise and their track record going forward.

And so that is behind these questions, because they have not disclosed the work they have been doing in the area of the vicinity of the city.  They have customers right now in the city of Woodstock, and I am just trying to do a comparison here, because they have not disclosed that in anything, and it also will lead me into a concern about the rate package.  We have talked about allocation of rates in this.

So that is where the folks in Woodstock are.  Who are these people?  And will they do what we're used to getting?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, again, I am objecting to this line of questioning, on the basis that Mr. Harding has had an opportunity, did have an opportunity, on January 15th to ask questions, and he in fact did ask questions, a great deal of questions, regarding the CDM programs.

The purpose, as we understood today's proceeding was for, was, number one, to ensure that Mr. Shepherd had the opportunity to complete his cross-examination and also, obviously, to entertain any new questions arising in respect of the amendment filings that were made on May 22nd.

The area that Mr. Harding is proposing to ask questions about does not fall into either of those categories, and on that basis I am objecting to this line of questioning.

MR. HARDING:  Madam Chair, I am simply following on the conversation that we had with Mr. Lee today.

MS. LONG:  Well, I am going to give you a little bit of latitude, but not a lot.  Mr. Lee did provide some information with respect to reporting, and I think on that basis you're able to ask questions about that, but all three of the Panel members have reviewed the transcript.  You did ask a lot of questions about CDM.  We're very aware of what the evidence is.  So there is no need to repeat it.

So to the extent that you have questions with respect to what Mr. Lee has said today, you are free to ask those questions, with respect to his comments about reporting, but there is no need to go over the CDM questions that you have previously asked.

MR. HARDING:  To the Chair, it's been very difficult to find out information of any kind, because Woodstock Hydro staff have been told that they cannot talk in the public, they cannot appear here in this chamber, and they cannot be a witness.

And so it becomes very difficult for ratepayers to actually discern what the future is going to look like.  So my apologies to you if I am repeating myself, but I was drawing a conclusion from some of the -- I suppose if it's referring back to previous testimony, to see that it was incongruous.  It didn't make sense, what was being said today, as opposed to what was being said earlier.

And that also extends to, you know, the rates discussion, you know, which is increasingly difficult, because when you go look at -- that's on the minds of the ratepayers.  What's it going to cost?  What's it going to cost?  And the context in which it is talked about today is considerably different than January 15th.

And so --


MS. LONG:  I don't think the panel would disagree with you, so you are free to ask any questions that you want with respect to the evidence update about how rates will be determined through years 2006 to 2010 or the earnings sharing mechanism.  Those are all areas --


MR. HARDING:  I think Mr. Shepherd has done that adequately --


MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd has done that.  But to the extent that you have questions, you are certainly free to ask those.

MR. HARDING:  We look as citizens and ratepayers.  We look at comparators.  And it has been increasingly difficult, I would remind the panel, that the public meeting on this sale happened after the fact.

I mean, there's been some -- and stony silence, and it's made very difficult for -- we don't know whether or not we're in a good position or a bad position.  There is very little we actually know.

Now, I mean, there is a lot I don't know too.  But when I look at -- one of the things they brought forward today is in the amended application, although not redacted, they didn't make any change in it, and that's on, you know -- and I know it's going to be objected to -- Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 1, table 4.

I know that there is a lot of anecdotal evidence out there that somebody's been fooling somebody, but I have to look -- I cannot find any of this data in the annual reports.  In fact, it is significantly different.

And so how do I go about -- I didn't pick that up last time.  You know, I thought it was very strange, but it is the statement made to our public that Hydro One is better for us than Woodstock Hydro, when in fact none of the figures quoted here are contained in the annual report.  And in fact, I love this phrase "in the vicinity of the city of Woodstock".  There is no footnote there.  It didn't say "we sampled 800 customers", it didn't say anything.

So I don't know how -- I would love to ask him where they got the figures, if you would allow that, because we didn't touch on that where the source was.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  I am in your hands, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Well, the cite to me says the OEB yearbook.  Is it not the OEB yearbook?

MR. NETTLETON:  That is what I read too, in terms of the footnote.  I mean, I can't -- I don't have the precise location in the OEB yearbook where this was found, but I read the application as do you to say that is the source.

MR. HARDING:  So I went back -- go ahead.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, but Hydro One doesn't report data for separate areas in the yearbook.

MR. HARDING:  All right.

MS. LONG:  So is the reference to Woodstock Hydro the yearbook and there's some other means by which you have derived the Hydro One --


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, that is what the footnote is referencing, is Woodstock Hydro.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. HARDING:  So Madam Chair, wouldn't you think that they would tell us who the comparators were?  We've got 15,000-some customers in the city of Woodstock.  Who are the comparators?  Over what period of time?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, look, if Mr. Harding has a question about this table that he would like to put to Mr. Bertolo in terms of how it was put together, then, I mean --


MS. LONG:  I now have a question about this chart, so I will ask the question to Mr. Bertolo about where the information for Hydro One was derived from.

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.  We did discuss it in the transcripts back on page, I think it was 139, but let me take you through it.

The chart is the Woodstock Hydro, and Mr. Shepherd is absolutely correct, it is only reported on a corporate basis.  So the Woodstock Hydro numbers are from the OEB yearbook, and as I stated back in January, what we tried to do to help the Panel look at reliability, we tried to take our system as close to Woodstock as possible.

If you will recall, we had the discussion about the Woodstock East Distribution Station, and we took feeders out of there.

We have a performance management group that does all the reporting for SAIDI and SAIFI on the corporate basis.  They use the exact same methodology in which they report to the OEB on an annual basis for our numbers.  And they looked at those feeders that were going as close to the urban centre of Woodstock as possible.  And we took those numbers and we did the calculations exactly the same as what we do in normal reporting in SAIDI and SAIFI.

And the reason we built this exhibit was to show that operations close by -- so similarly situated, which at least eliminates a lot of the weather situations, because there is no sense us taking figures from eastern Ontario comparing to western Ontario, so we tried to get as close as possible and the feeders as close to the city of Woodstock as possible, because remember, we don't operate the city of Woodstock, so I can't say in Woodstock, because it is not us, other than the north part.  There is a very little piece that's up there.  There is only 700 customers.  We used that and we built the numbers from that.

So these are the comparators that we have that shows reliability in that area to give comfort to the citizens of Woodstock that the reliability will be maintained, if not improved, when we actually take over the actual service territory.

MS. LONG:  And then as I understand it from reading the transcript, you do not propose on a go-forward basis to do a separate reporting of SAIDI and SAIFI for Woodstock Hydro?

MR. BERTOLO:  So for the share purchase agreement with the city of Woodstock, the agreement was to gauge that penalty clause.  Those numbers would be provided to that advisory committee, because they're the ones overseeing the share purchase agreement on behalf of the city of Woodstock.  That is what we stated in here.

MS. LONG:  What are you going to provide to the Board?

MR. BERTOLO:  We weren't intending to provide anything.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Harding?

MR. HARDING:  To whom are you reporting that data?

MR. BERTOLO:  The advisory committee that is clearly articulated in the --


MR. HARDING:  I know there is an advisory committee, sir.  They're the ones that are going to manage this data and determine whether or not you're in default?

MR. BERTOLO:  So the duly elected officials of Woodstock will sit there and pick the advisory committee they want to put on this, to oversee this share purchase agreement, and they will be the overseeers as elected by their -- or nominated by the city, as is their right under that agreement.

MR. HARDING:  The comparators are with rural customers?

MR. BERTOLO:  It is not a comparator.  This is a calculation of assets that happen to be - we only have rural there.  So therefore, it is the only thing I can provide; it is as close as possible.

MR. HARDING:  Well, I will be speaking to whether or not we believe this later, in terms of argument.

MS. LONG:  You can put that in your argument, Mr. Harding.  All of these comments can be put in argument.

MR. HARDING:  Let's go back and touch again on conservation.  Can you tell us anything about the conservation strategy you have currently employed, and the outcome in the areas -- I will use your term -- adjacent to the city of Woodstock?  Tell us how that's been going.

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't have specifics.  We run provincial programs.  So I'm sorry, I don't have that information.

MR. HARDING:  Can you supply it to us?

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't even know if we have activities, and if there's actually any -- a lot of these are volunteer residentials.  They pick up the programs.

In industry, it depends on the industry.  I don't know if we even have industry in our jurisdiction just outside of Woodstock that would be comparable for you.

MR. HARDING:  You have Toyota.  It is not in the city of Woodstock's -- it is not a customer of Woodstock Hydro.

MR. BERTOLO:  Agreed, and I don't know if they have a program with us or not.

MR. HARDING:  How can we report programs and you can't?  Is that what I'm hearing?

MR. BERTOLO:  No, we can.  The question is did the manufacturing site want to be part of a program?  We can't impose programs on people.

MR. HARDING:  Do you have somebody employed in this region that actually is responsible for conservation demand-side management?

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am -- we seem to be wandering back into the area of CDM that we discussed in January.

This is not about the amended application.  It's not about responses that Mr. Lee provided this morning about CDM.  It's now wandering back into the area of employment, and who has expertise in this area with Hydro One versus Woodstock.

That is an area that's been considered before.  We need not go there, in my respectful opinion.

MR. HARDING:  Can you turn to the area where it was considered before when -- you know, when we talked about conservation, about your capabilities in that area and your performance?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Harding, you were given an opportunity to ask questions on January 15th.  If this is a specific area that you chose not to explore with the witnesses, today is not, in my respectful opinion, a second chance or a second kick at the can.

MR. HARDING:  Madam Chair, this is not a second chance.  There is some question that Woodstock Hydro's achievement really isn't achievement, that 177 percent really isn't 177.

I am just simply asking the next logical question.  If that was the -- how are you doing?  Give us a comparator.

MS. LONG:  Well, I think Mr. Lee has answered how Hydro One is reporting.  I think he's clarified his comments with respect to the reporting of 177, and has confirmed that, in his view, there is nothing untoward about the way that the CDM targets were reported.

So I don't know that you still have a question about that, Mr. Harding, because the Panel is not going to take an adverse inference from what Mr. Lee has said with respect to the reporting requirements.

MR. HARDING:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my comments, my questions.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know it is a little bit out of order, but Mr. Harding is not a lawyer and is not familiar with some of the procedures.

I thought Mr. Nettleton's objection that Mr. Harding had his chance on these things was inappropriate, and I am concerned that if Mr. Harding wants to find out how Hydro One is doing on CDM in the Woodstock area, that has not -- questions have not been asked on that, and no answers have been given.

And so I would have thought he should be allowed to ask those questions.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, mister --


MS. LONG:  Mr. Bertolo, I thought you answered that question, that you had no reporting.  You were not able to give any specifics with respect to CDM in the Woodstock region; that is how I understood your evidence.

MR. BERTOLO:  I do not have any with me.

MS. LONG:  I also thought that you said that you did not report in that way.  When you say you don't have it with you, is it reported in some way?  It was my understanding that, in answer to Mr. Harding's question, you said that you don't track CDM in the Woodstock area.

Am I misunderstanding what your evidence was?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry; if I misled you, my apologies.  No, all I was saying is I don't have specific information with regard to CDM programs in the Woodstock area.

There may be programs; I don't know.  I don't have it with me.

MR. LEE:  Maybe I can help with looking at it from the consolidated basis.  So I can -- we can basically talk about what was filed with the OEB in terms of the CDM results.  Is that at least a starting point?

MS. LONG:  I think what Mr. Harding is asking about is pinpointing with respect to your experience in the Woodstock area.

MR. LEE:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  And I am trying to understand from you whether or not you track that, and whether you have that information available.  My understanding was that you did not.

MR. BERTOLO:  I don't have it with me.  I don't know if we track it specifically to that area.

I know we do provincial programs, so there may be things in Woodstock.  I don't have the information with me here.

MR. HARDING:  Madam Chair, can he provide it?

MR. BERTOLO:  We can check if we have specifics around the Woodstock area, and we will provide a report on what programs are in effect in -- shall we say in the municipal Woodstock area --


MR. HARDING:  Well, I mean --


MR. BERTOLO:  -- just to try to ring fence it?

MR. HARDING:  I already know what is in the municipal Woodstock area.  You have 700 customers adjacent to the Woodstock Hydro.  I would just like to know what you did there and how successful you were.

It is a common-sense question.

MR. BERTOLO:  So we're agreeing it is in the municipality of Woodstock; does Hydro One have CDM programs within that municipal boundary?

MR. HARDING:  And were they successful and how do they compare, because that is what the public is interested in.

MS. LONG:  Can you be more clear, Mr. Harding, by what you mean by being successful?

I want to try to limit this.  I understand you have a question, and I understand the panel has some questions with respect to CDM.

But I don't want to have us swirling around here trying to figure out what it is that you want to get to.

I think what your question is with respect to what CDM programs do you have in place in the municipality of Woodstock.

You are going to clarify for me what you mean by "are successful", and Mr. Bertolo is going to make best efforts to see if in fact he has that reporting, and he will provide that by way of undertaking, subject to what Mr. Nettleton says.  Does that suffice?

MR. HARDING:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  There is a difference between available and "used".

MS. LONG:  I agree.  Are you asking what the take-up was?

MR. HARDING:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Is that a better way to put it, so we can at least clarify what it is you mean?

MR. HARDING:  Yes, that will tell us whether or not they -- that will help explain to our public back there what the take-up was, because the difference globally is the -- the spread is quite great.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I wasn't going to have any concerns about the undertaking because I thought it was clear.  I thought availability is really the appropriate statistic or metric.

What the evidence is from Mr. Bertolo is that CDM programs cannot be forced on customers.  And so whatever the rationale is for why programs are implemented or used is going to be ultimately a decision of customers.

So it strikes me that instead of the metric being "used", but rather a description of what CDM policies are "available", is the proper metric to be asking the witnesses to undertake.

MS. LONG:  But isn't this a judgment for the Board to make?  I mean ultimately, Mr. Harding wants to get the information.  You are going to probably have comments with respect to what exactly you have just told me about you having no control over take-up.

But ultimately, it is the Board that is going to be making these decisions.

So I appreciate that you have raised that, but at the end of the day, we're going to be reviewing all of the evidence on CDM and making our determination on that basis.

MR. BERTOLO:  Can I add one other time dimension, are we -- shall we limit it to the 2011 to 2014, so it is the same period of time?  Just so we're clear.

MS. LONG:  So are you clear now, Mr. Bertolo, on what we're asking for?

MR. BERTOLO:  I think so.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  So that will be undertaking J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  to clarify what is meanT by "are successful"; Mr. Bertolo to make best efforts to see if he has the cdm reporting

MS. LONG:  Great.  Then, Mr. Bertolo, to the extent that you can get that information prior to Mr. Harding putting in his submission, obviously that is helpful.

MR. BERTOLO:  We will endeavour as quick as possible.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Harding, with that being said, are you -- have you completed your questions?

MR. HARDING:  Completed.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Board Staff? 


Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Yes, Madam Chair, we actually do have one question, it is with respect to ICM programs.

My understanding from the testimony given this morning is that there is not going to be a calculation done on a yearly basis for the rate base and depreciation specifically for Woodstock Hydro.  Is that correct?  You're not keeping that information in specific Woodstock Hydro reports?

MR. LEE:  Correct.  It's going to be rolled into the Hydro One Networks proper.

MS. HELT:  So then my question is, just with respect to the ICM and an application for ICM, how will you be able to calculate the threshold for an ICM in years six to ten if you are not tracking that rate base and depreciation information separately for Woodstock Hydro?

MR. LEE:  But I believe the ICM is calculated based on the existing rates.  So it's the depreciation amount that determines -- sorry, the depreciation amount that is currently in effect in rates, multiplied by some formula, which creates the threshold, and any cap ex that we spend a discrete project that is above and beyond that amount would then trigger an ICM.

MS. HELT:  Right.  So the threshold for the ICM, my understanding of that is it is the depreciation based on the rate base plus 20 percent.

But I was -- I guess more specifically it was just, if you are not tracking that information for Woodstock Hydro specifically, how then would you know if you have reached that rate base, or that threshold?

MR. LEE:  Well, the rates in place based on the 2011 filing would be the basis for that calculation.  So in that filing it is $28 million was the rate-base number.  So we would continue to use that as the threshold to see if an ICM triggers.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Okay.  That's fine, then.  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Ms. Fry has some questions.
Questions by the Board:

MS. FRY:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  Just a couple of things just to make sure my understanding is correct.  So there was some reference when you were talking about the CDM to the fact that there was a significant industrial component at the Woodstock end.  Can you give me an idea of what proportion of Woodstock customers are industrial, as opposed to residential?

MR. BERTOLO:  To be fair, we will take an undertaking on that, if you want, to get you specifics as to their current customer base as best we can get it.

MS. FRY:  It doesn't have to be precise.  If you have a ballpark understanding now, that would be sufficient for me.  I mean...

MR. LEE:  The only data I have right now is the mix of CDM programs by residential customer, industrial in that --


MS. FRY:  No, I am just talking about generic --


MR. LEE:  Generically, yeah, no --


MS. FRY:  You know, is it, you know, 50-50 or -- just in terms of how many industrial customers you have versus residential.

MR. LEE:  Unfortunately we don't have that right on hand, so...

MS. FRY:  If you could check that.

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes, we will.

MS. HELT:  So that will be Undertaking J2.3, to provide information with respect to the breakdown of residential and industrial customers of Woodstock Hydro at the current time.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO THE BREAKDOWN OF RESIDENTIAL AND INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS OF WOODSTOCK HYDRO AT THE CURRENT TIME.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.  Okay.  So staying on CDM.  Again, just to confirm my understanding, so I know that going into this consolidation transaction you've done forecasts for a number of elements.

Am I correct in thinking you didn't do a forecast as to what CDM would look like for the consolidated entity?

MR. BERTOLO:  No, not specifically.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And was there a particular reason why you decided not to do any kind of a forecast for CDM?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, in general the CDM programs are governed by the provincial -- the way we look at it is, they're provincial programs, and it is contingent on the uptakes.  So from our perspective, we would be rolling their programs into ours, but because costs are recovered through the OPA programs and the IESO OPA-sponsored programs, it doesn't necessarily have a cash basis to us.  So it is really a question of those programs just extending what they're already accomplishing.  So --


MS. FRY:  I mean, forecasts don't have to be cash forecasts, obviously.

MR. BERTOLO:  No, agreed.  So I don't think we actually did a formal forecast of it, other than we reviewed the programs they had, looked at ones that we thought would be appropriate going forward, but not to sit there and say we've actually forecasted whether they would survive or not, because there is a lot of detail around them.

Generally, the working assumption for Hydro One is that the programs would be absorbed up into our provincial programs.

MS. FRY:  When you say you didn't do a formal forecast, are you saying you did an informal forecast, or if so, how informal was it?  I mean...

MR. BERTOLO:  As part of due diligence on any of these acquisitions we look at, we have -- our CDM people would have looked at the various programs that were in place and saw if they were outliers or something very different than what we're used to seeing.  And if they are, then the question is:  Does this cause any issues to the corporation on a go-forward basis?  So we only look for outliers, we'll call it.  If they were basically well-understood programs, then it is just assumed that they will continue going forward.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Did you want to say something, Mr. Lee?

MR. LEE:  No.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So I am looking at your table on the earnings sharing mechanism, your proposal for that.  In note 2 there is a line that says "difference after adjustment for extraordinary events".  If you want to turn to the table, by all means do that.

Have you got it?

MR. LEE:  Yes, we see that.

MS. FRY:  I am just wondering if you can give me an idea of what type of events that could occur you might consider to be extraordinary.

MR. LEE:  Sure.  Just give me one second.  So if I could refer you to SEC 5, which is Exhibit I-2-5.

MS. FRY:  Okay.

MR. LEE:  So something like that would be kind of like an extraordinary item where it is an unrealized gain on swap.  Like, it is -- that amount was a non-cash item.  It was an accounting entry to fair-value the instrument on our balance sheets.

So what happens is, through fluctuations in the interest rates, you will incur unrealized gains and losses until you hold the debt to maturity, and over time these things will become neutral.  But what this item does is it artificially inflates the ROE, and what we're trying to do is normalize that for operations.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So if you were trying to define what, in your mind, makes a difference between an ordinary event and an extraordinary event for that purpose, are you saying -- how would you differentiate, generally speaking?

MR. LEE:  I guess my description would be that they would be atypical, and they would be something that was not in the normal realm of operations.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And the last thing I want to ask about is, I want to be sure I understand fully, like, the full picture of your forecast of incremental costs and savings due to the proposed consolidation.

And I know there is information on this throughout the record.  I just want to make sure I am putting it together correctly.

Okay.  So I see your table on basically incremental O&M savings and capital savings.  And that's from year one to year ten.  Basically, depending on which scenario you are using, those forecasts, if I understand correctly, are basically constant every year from year one to year ten, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, what do you mean by "constant"?

MS. FRY:  Approximately the same amount?

MR. BERTOLO:  Oh, yes, sorry.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Then can you remind me how much you were forecasting for transaction costs?

MR. BERTOLO:  We stated -- I can give the reference, but it is 2.5 to $4 million, somewhere in that range.

MS. FRY:  That is in total, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And I know you were forecasting that you would recover those transaction costs out of the savings over the first five years in your original application, right?

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.

MS. FRY:  Now, does transaction costs, does that basket cover all of the incremental costs due to the consolidation?  Or are there other incremental costs that would need to be taken into account?

MR. BERTOLO:  Costs that you mean we're going to try to recover through the savings?

MS. FRY:  Yes.  I mean, what you're basically saying is as a result of the consolidation you would have incremental savings to O&M and capital expenditures, and you would have -- and you would have to put out incremental transaction costs.

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.

MS. FRY:  So --


MR. BERTOLO:  And the premium.

MS. FRY:  -- at the cost end I just want to be sure whether the transaction costs, is that the full basket of incremental costs due to the consolidation?

MR. BERTOLO:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  Yes, okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Fry, just because there was coughing and there was a little chatter between -- one of the most important elements that Mr. Bertolo mentioned, though, was the premium as being in addition to the transactional costs.

So the premium paid on this transaction would be an incremental cost.

MS. FRY:  It sounds like you are giving evidence.  I didn't hear that.

MR. BERTOLO:  Sorry, I did, but the coughing -- so when you asked the cost that would be recovered against the savings and its transactional cost, you said is that it.  And I just added that it would also include the premium, which you are trying to cover.

MS. FRY:  I didn't hear that.

MR. BERTOLO:  So a combination of those two is what you're trying to recover with those savings.

I think the policy, the new policy in 26 was very clear on that.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And in your original application, that entire basket of incremental costs, you were basically expressing confidence that it would be recovered in the first five years?

MR. BERTOLO:  The numbers that we show, the base case did not show it overcoming that.

So if you look at table 2 and if you were to sum up the combined project savings in the base -- it did say the base case scenario.  In OM&A, and capital, if you did the sum of that, you did not overcome -- roughly, let's take the outside of the transaction costs of being four million, we will take the worst case scenario.

If you take the premium pay at $14 million, that is $18 million, $18 million is not recovered in the first five years.

MS. FRY:  Okay.

MR. BERTOLO:  So we absorb the risk of that.

MS. FRY:  And you thought that despite that risk, as you understood it at that time, it was still economically feasible to enter into the transaction?

MR. BERTOLO:  Right, because there is ranges around all of the numbers, other than -- the premium is the premium; that is set.  The transaction cost, the idea is to try to drive it down to the 2.5 level if you can get it.

And the savings here is to try to get as much savings as possible in that period of time, so to try to overcome it.

I am just making the point that where you said will it be overcome, it depends which scenario it is.

MS. FRY:  I understand that and that is why I am asking for clarification or confirmation, to make sure I understand it correctly.

MR. BERTOLO:  Right.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Bertolo, can you just take me through those numbers again as to how, at the end of year five, this was not a deal where Hydro One came out ahead?

MR. BERTOLO:  Well, depending on which scenario you take -- for example, if you were to take the base case scenario, you see the project savings in years one to five.  So the 2.3, 2.3, 2.4, 2.7, 2.7.  So you get 12.4 million dollars.

Now, if we take the capital line and you do the same aggregation, there's actually less than -- it is actually negative 0.3.

So you have roughly 12 million dollars, we will round it, so that didn't cover it.  And the base case scenario, if you take the low case scenario, we actually did overcome the $14 million and the premium is almost $17 million.

So depending on how things play out, that is the risk factor that we face with regard to the consolidation, and that's why, you know, we also look at it, why we came back with the application and extended it.

It was partly because it recognized -- I think the policy correctly recognized there is that consolidation risk and the policy correctly encapsulated that, and said you may need to go beyond that.

So ergo, why we put the application, amended it and said, yes, we will take advantage of that right now because depending on which scenario happens, we may not overcome the combination of -- call it transaction and premium costs in aggregate.

MS. LONG:  But other than the policy coming into effect, there's nothing that changed with respect to the business case.  I guess what I'm asking is there's nothing that happened, other than the policy change, that is the reason for you coming back in.

MR. BERTOLO:  Correct.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. Nettleton, those are the Panel's questions.  Do you have any redirect?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, I don't, Madam Chair.
Procedural Matters:


MS. LONG:  You do not?  Okay.  Then would you like some time to prepare your submissions?

MR. NETTLETON:  Oh, I think that would be quite helpful.

MS. LONG:  Do you have an idea of how much time you would like?

MR. NETTLETON:  If I could have forty-five minutes?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Harding and Mr. Shepherd, are you planning on staying for that?  If you are not, then we will set the schedule for when you can file your submissions.  Otherwise, I will do that after we hear from Mr. Nettleton.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am hoping to stay, but I am not sure I can.



MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, why don't we go ahead and figure out some dates.

I am assuming that you and Mr. Harding would like to do written submissions, and I was thinking June 8th.  That's ten days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, is it possible to make it the 9th?

The reason why I ask that is because I am in Ottawa on Thursday and Friday, the 4th and 5th, reporting to the Ottawa school boards so --


MS. LONG:  The 9th is fine.  I am willing to go to the 10th, if that helps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be wonderful.

MS. LONG:  All right.  So we will do the 10th.

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, is that for Board Staff's submissions as well?

MS. LONG:  Yes, given you didn't take a position on anything -- you weren't the lead on any position.  I would just expect you could file at the same time.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  I don't think it is beneficial for you to go four or five days ahead.

And then, Mr. Nettleton, do you want two weeks for reply?  Obviously, you can get your reply in as soon as you can after the 10th.

MR. NETTLETON:  I suspect the whip will be out to do that, Madam Chair.  So I will certainly take fourteen days, but I expect we will try to do it --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  As far as the schedule is set, we will give the intervenors and Board Staff until June 10th.

Mr. Nettleton and Mr. Rodger, we will provide that you will have until the 24th.  But certainly if you would like to get it in before then, you are welcome to.

So with that being said, we will come back at ten to four and hear submissions from Mr. Nettleton.  And Mr. Rodger, are you making submissions as well?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, but I will be brief, probably under ten minutes.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Then we thank the panel for their evidence and you are excused.

[Witness panel withdraws]
--- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Nettleton?
Closing Argument by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel members.  I am pleased to provide the Board with the argument in-chief of Hydro One Inc. and Hydro One Networks, which I will collectively refer to as "Hydro One" in respect of the application that is before you.

In this application, Hydro One is seeking your approval pursuant to section 86 of the Ontario Energy Board Act for authorization to complete a commercial transaction.  Specifically, Hydro One is seeking your approval for the purchase and sale of the outstanding shares in Woodstock Hydro Holdings Inc., the parent company of Woodstock Hydro Services Inc.  And the value of this transaction is $46.2 million.

Hydro One's business objective is to consolidate the assets of Woodstock Hydro into its much larger existing distribution system and by doing so achieve greater efficiencies and economies of scale.

The objective and the intended effects resulting from this transaction are not new.  They are the same as Hydro One's recent two approved acquisitions involving the Norfolk Power Distribution and Haldimand County Hydro Companies.

They are -- there are indeed many similarities with respect to those transactions and the present one, and this is by design.

The evidence before you is that the proposed transaction provides benefits to both Woodstock and Hydro One ratepayers.  Hydro One has agreed to provide Woodstock ratepayers with a one percent reduction in its existing and approved 2014 base distribution rates and to have such reduced rate levels remain in effect for the next five years.

Hydro One has also applied to extend the deferred rate rebasing period for up to ten years, using the Board's new policy as found in the Board's March 26th, 2015 report on ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation.

Over the deferred rebasing period, in years six to ten, WHSI or Woodstock Hydro's rates would be subject to the Board's price cap incentive ratemaking mechanism, and Hydro One has also applied in its amended application to implement an earning sharing -- earnings sharing mechanism consistent with the Board's new policy that would take effect in the so-called extended deferred rebasing period.

Hydro One also understands that the incentive -- sorry, the incremental capital module will be available to it if required.  That's consistent with the policy.

And over the longer term, the transaction provides reasonable opportunities for sustained cost savings that will also benefit ratepayers by creating downward cost pressures and provide increased rate certainty in the period years six to ten.

The transaction is another important step forward towards achieving the overarching policy objective of LDC sector consolidation.  For the city of Woodstock, monetization of its assets allows for the reallocation of resources.

And for Hydro One the transaction allows for the formation of a larger singular service territory from which greater economies of scale to its operations can be realized.

The circumstances surrounding this transaction are consistent in many respects with the Norfolk and Haldimand transactions.

We see the same major ratepayer attributes yielding a no-harm result -- namely, a one percent rate reduction and a five-year rate freeze -- being provided to ratepayers of the acquired entity.

Board policies applying to distributor consolidation are being followed.  With the advent of the Board's new policy, Woodstock customers will actually have up to an additional five-year period of rate design certainty, using price cap IR in the earning sharings mechanism.

And also consistent with the Norfolk and the Haldimand transactions and consistent with the Board's policies is that Hydro One is assuming all purchase price risk, or purchase premium risk, which is to say the premium negotiated by Hydro One is on its account, and will not be recovered through rates charged to any of its existing or future customers.

Cost structure comparisons have been conducted and demonstrate that the transaction should result in favourable outcomes to all ratepayers in the long-term.

Hydro One ratepayers will also benefit from greater efficiencies in the overall operations of its distribution system, including such benefits as acquiring hard-to-secure experienced staff and distribution operational assets that can be optimized on a regional basis.

The application before you is comprehensive.  It contains far more information than what has been provided or seen in other recent MAAD proceedings.  Providing more detailed information up front in the application itself was an intentional choice made on the part of Hydro One.  It was done in light of the comments and concerns raised in the Norfolk proceeding.

And unlike the Norfolk case, what is striking about the record in this proceeding is that no intervenor has decided to challenge the sought relief by filing evidence of their own.

Aids to cross-examine, such as third-party reports or extracts, can hardly be characterized as having the same substance or weight as testimony given under oath and made subject to cross-examination.

I want to turn now to the no-harm test.  Application seeking relief pursuant to section 86 of the act must pass the Board's no-harm test, and this is what was established by the Board's proceeding in the combined proceeding, as I will call it, wherein the Board considered arguments as to the tests which should apply to an application made under section 86, and determined that the appropriate test to be used is the no-harm test.

The most recent pronouncement of the no-harm test is found in the Board's Norfolk decision and more recently applied in the Cambridge and North Dumfries Brant County Power and Haldimand decisions.

The Board reaffirmed the combined proceeding determination that the test considers whether or not the proposed transaction will likely have an adverse effect when taking into account the Board's statutory objectives, as set out in section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and these objectives are, number one, to protect interests of consumers with respect to prices, adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service.

Number two, to promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness in generation, transmission, distribution, sale, and demand management of electricity, and to facilitate maintenance of financially viable -- of a financially viable electricity industry.

Number three, to promote electricity conservation and demand management in a manner consistent with the Ontario government's policies, including having regard to the consumers' economic circumstances.

Number four, to facilitate implementation of smart grid in Ontario.

And number five, to promote use and generation of electricity from renewable energy sources in a manner consistent with Ontario's policies, including timely expansion, reinforcement of the transmission distribution systems to accommodate renewable facilities.

In the Norfolk decision, the Board further found that consumers include both Hydro One's existing customers and customers of the utility being acquired.

And so the question in our case is this:  Based on the evidence in this proceeding, has Hydro One been able to meet the no-harm test requirements?  And in our respectful submission, the evidence clearly favours a resounding yes response.

So let's look at each of the requirements in the Board's objectives and the evidence that justifies that outcome.

The first element concerns price adequacy, reliability, and the quality of electricity service.  And in respect of price, the share purchase -- the share purchase agreement and the application show not only that rates will not increase for the next five years, but also that rates will be immediately reduced by one percent before they are frozen for the five-year period and that following that period WHSI 2014 approved base distribution delivery rates will be adjusted by the price cap formula for up to five additional years, and in addition, the earnings sharing mechanism implemented in the extended deferral period will balance the incentive to achieve greater cost savings and offer a sharing opportunity providing rate design and resulting price certainty that benefits customers.

Hydro One has also provided clear forecasts which show that cost savings can be achieved, and are expected to be enduring over the longer period.

Recall the evidence provided in table 2 of the application found at Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8.  Hydro One assessed cost structures by comparing a status quo, or a no-transaction case with an integration scenario.

Mr. Bertolo explained that the status quo forecast shown in table 2 takes into account information from WHSI management, as well as Hydro One's own assessment of the expected cost to maintain WHSI in a stand-alone mode of operation.

On the integrated forecast side of things, the application explains that Hydro One relied on its asset risk assessment methodology, which is the same method it uses to develop cost expenditure forecasts for its other distribution assets.

That makes perfect sense, and is what you would expect Hydro One to do.  Sensitivity analysis was then performed on those results and, in all cases, the results show that cost savings are expected over the study ten-year period.

Now, is that approach reasonable?

We say yes, and we say yes because comparing a without-transaction or status quo approach to a with-transaction assessment is logical.  It's consistent with what the Board told us in the Norfolk proceeding concerning the importance of examining existing cost structures with expected future cost structures.

What the Board said was, and I quote,
"Therefore, in applying the no harm test, it is appropriate for the Board to assess the cost structures from which will be introduced as a result of the transfer of a Norfolk Power Distribution Inc. Distribution System, and associated licence to HONI, in comparison to the cost structures that underpin NPDI's current rates."

That's found at pages 4 and 5 of the decision in Norfolk.

Now, that's precisely the approach that has been taken by Hydro One, and is shown in table 2 of its application.  The cost numbers used in the analysis are predicated upon conservative estimates, and developed by taking into account Hydro One's asset and risk assessment methodology that is used throughout its entire system.

Applying a plus-minus 20 percent range to the expected cost savings provides another layer of conservatism, and informs the reader as to the range of reasonable predicted outcomes.

A practical, consistent and conservative approach has been taken to the assessment of cost structures.  Given these circumstances, we say there is ample reason why a similar finding to what was stated in the Norfolk and Haldimand decisions, namely that the transaction is likely to cause a downward impact on OM&A costs, is equally applicable here.

There is simply no evidence to suggest otherwise, and there is strong evidence to support this pricing conclusion.

Another reason that supports the view that improved cost structures are a reasonable expectation going forward is seen when comparing the Hydro One versus WHSI OM&A costs on a per customer basis.  Recall this metric was viewed to be relevant -- a relevant consideration in assessing the impact of the transaction in both the Norfolk and the Haldimand cases.

In this proceeding, the evidence is that Hydro One's current OM&A forecast to serve customers in its high density residential rate class is $181 per year.

This compares to WHSI's cost of $277 per year, an amount that was reported in the 2013 OEB yearbook, and as noted by Mr. Bertolo at pages 113 and 114 of the transcript.

So this is another reason why it is reasonable to expect that the resulting consolidation of these entities  -- particularly given the geographic proximity of the operations -- will result in downward pressure on WHSI's costs enduring over the long-term.

Let me turn now to the second part of the first element, and that's reliability and quality.  What Hydro One has shown is that customers in the vicinity of Woodstock experienced a similar level of service, in respect of duration and frequency of interruptions, compared to Woodstock's customers.

Table 4 of the application found at page 14 of Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, supports this conclusion.  No evidence has been put forward to counter Hydro One's evidence that customers will not be harmed.  Moreover, as in the Norfolk and Haldimand transactions, there are several factors promoting service quality and reliability inherent in this transaction.

Hydro One will incorporate WHSI into its operating and maintenance as well as asset management processes.  It will retain WHSI's staff with knowledge of the WHSI's service area, while also transitioning this staff to work within an expanded area.

And it will set up an advisory committee with representatives of Hydro One and the city of Woodstock to provide a forum for communication between Hydro One and the city of Woodstock.

There is no reason to believe reliability would decline, especially given the fact that the projected service personnel coverage for WHSI is remaining relatively unchanged.

The second element concerns economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness and, in respect to these matters, significant cost savings are expected to be achieved by way of economies of scale, geographical contiguity, integration of management and administrative functions, as well as lowering financing costs.

These are familiar factors and ones which the Board found in its Norfolk and Haldimand decisions, which would lead to a probable significant downward pressure on rates.

As Mr. Bertolo stated on January 15th, quote:
"Acquiring contiguous service territory especially embedded utilities offers tremendous synergies."

And as in the Norfolk and Haldimand transactions, projected cost savings in this case will allow Hydro One the ability to increase efficiency in operating and maintenance work schedules, increase efficiency in the use of work equipment leading to lower capital replacement requirements over time, and overall achieve a more rational and efficient planning and development of the distribution system.

Moreover, also consistent with previously-approved MAAD transactions by Hydro One, the current transaction will allow for the elimination of redundant administrative and processing functions, scheduling efficiencies, elimination of duplicate back office systems, savings from the allocation of the costs of the remaining back office systems over a larger customer base, reduced board of director costs, membership fees for energy associations, regulatory filing expenses, and CDM program administration costs.

Also, as Mr. Bertolo explained on January 15th, there is an opportunity for Hydro One to secure scarce quality field staff and knowledgeable back office staff.  That is found at page 17 of the transcript.

The third element of the no harm test concerns promotion of electricity conservation and demand management.

The subject of conservation was a question raised several times with Mr. Bertolo and Mr. Lee.  Hydro One's evidence in respect of this subject is clear, as set out in its answer to the CSASWH interrogatory response number 8.  And as explained by the witnesses, HONI is committed to delivering industry-leading conservation and demand management initiatives to current and new customers.

In addition to making all province-wide programs available under the new merged framework, Woodstock customers would also benefit from Hydro One's leading-edge research and local and regional program development, and pilot program offerings that go beyond the OPA's programs.

Finally, as stated by Mr. Bertolo on January 15th, part of the benefit of consolidation is that Hydro One can absorb Woodstock's programs into its own as part of the rationalization process.

Elements 4 and 5 of the no harm test relate to implementation of the smart grid in Ontario, and promotion of use and generation of electricity from renewable energy sources.

And as explained in the application, found at page 15 of Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, if the transaction is approved Hydro One will rationalize Woodstock's smart grid and renewable programs with its own in order to achieve efficiencies, while also seeking out unique capabilities for experience that can provide a positive impact on Hydro One's programs going forward.

As Mr. Bertolo also explained to you on January 15th, distributor consolidation is needed to offset costs of implementing more advanced and complex systems to run the Ontario electricity grid.  And that is found at page 20 of the transcript.

There is also a catch-all clause or catch-all category of "other factors" that are relevant and applicable to MAAD applications.  And one of those factors concerns, in my respectful submission, the new policy that was introduced on March 26th.  The Board's change in policy concerning rate rebasing was the basis for Hydro One's amending application that was filed on May 22nd, 2015.

Consistent with this new policy, Hydro One is seeking to defer rate rebasing for an extended period beyond the original five years, and up to a ten-year period.

The rationale for this change in policy is to afford consolidated utilities the opportunity to realize transitional and operational efficiencies.

And the quid pro quo for the extension of the rate rebasing period is implementation of an ESM or earnings sharing mechanism which Hydro One has included in its amended filing.

Again, the net result is a win-win.  Hydro One is afforded an extended period of time to potentially realize cost savings, and WHSI and Hydro One's customers are afforded rate design certainty, WHSI's customers are afforded rate design certainty through implementation of the price cap IR, and all customers are afforded the opportunity to share in over-earnings via the ESM.

Let me talk a little bit more about the earnings sharing mechanism, because it drew some attention today.

Hydro One's proposal is, in my respectful submission, included in the application to comport with the Board's policy.  The Board's policy says that we are to use the ROE of the consolidated entity.  It doesn't say:  Use the forecast or use a calculated ROE of the entity you have acquired some six years out from now.

What the policy says at pages 6 and 7 is that the ROE to be used is the consolidated entity, and that makes logical sense.  It's the shareholder of the consolidated entity that is taking the risk here.  They are the party that has spent the money on the premium payment, and it is that entity, through its subsidiary, that is taking the risk of achieving cost savings and efficiencies.

The whole intent of the policy is to provide a greater period of time for those cost savings and efficiencies to be realized in order to make good or make back the investments that the consolidated entity has made.

Efficiencies and cost savings are not without risk.  In fact, they are significantly risky.  The payment of premiums is a certain amount.  It's been paid.  It's been realized.  The task at hand is trying to find ways to achieve the recovery of those amounts, by giving the consolidated entity more time and more flexibility to earn back those amounts and taking into account what the Board's policy is, and that is, protect customers from an over-earning situation by applying a sharing mechanism.

So efficiencies are intended to be achieved through synergies, not just WHSI customers, but synergies using the incumbent's existing footprint, operations, systems, and extracting synergies arising from geographic footprint.  Those aspects bear upon legacy customers of Hydro One, and it's those customers who should be allowed to share in the achievements.

The other element that drew much attention today was reporting, and I want to touch, briefly, upon the reporting.  You heard today a level of frustration -- at least I did -- from Mr. Bertolo regarding reporting in his exchange with Mr. Shepherd.  And part of that frustration, I dare say, relates to the fact that there is a level of inconsistency with how the Board has allowed reporting to proceed forward in the various MAAD transactions.

The good news, Madam Chair, is that, as you know, the Board is about to embark upon a more detailed second-phase approach to MAAD applications related to distributor consolidation, and it strikes me that one of the things that's going to add certainty, or potentially add certainty to industry, is to look at the question of reporting in that context and to look at how reporting should be achieved and what benefit that reporting is going to provide to customers and also provide certainty to the industry.

Doing it on a one-off basis, quite frankly, is not going to achieve the benefits and the certainties of transactional value for industry.

The other new thing that of course is coming or that has been implemented is the Board's policy.  The set of circumstances that exist today are different from Norfolk and Haldimand, because we're now looking at a longer period of time.

And so consideration, in my respectful submission, as to any type of reporting requirement in this case has to be taken into account with the greater rebasing period.  I'm not suggesting and Hydro One is not suggesting that reporting should be done away with altogether.  It is just a question of consistency, and it's probably an issue that should attract a greater audience with respect to industry, and what the obvious forum for that would be is what the Board is intending to do with its -- with its phase two program.

The next area that I would like to touch upon is when harmonization should be examined by the Board.  That is another matter that is relevant to factors applicable to MAAD applications.

And under the Board's new policy Hydro One is intending to harmonize rates, either during or at the end of the six- to ten-year extended period.

Now, we had a discussion this morning about what we meant by "up to", and the idea hopefully is clarified that we are seeking approval to rebase not before year ten.  Whether we choose to -- whether Hydro One chooses to rebase before then is a matter of future consideration that Hydro One will do and present, if it does do so, will present the circumstances that give rise to that choice at that time.

Details of that rebasing and harmonization -- harmonized rate design application are obviously matters saved for another day, taking into account then prevailing facts and circumstances.

What we would expect, however, today is that future rates will be designed in accordance with the traditional objectives, common with all ratemaking applications; namely, principles of fairness, predictability, certainty, and cost recovery.

Alternative rate designs are expected to be considered at the time of a harmonized application.  However, it's simply, again, too speculative at this stage to know with any degree of certainty whether the most reasonable rate design will be one that groups former WHSI customers into a new acquired customer rate class or be moved to a Hydro One rate class existing at that time, or potentially other options that could be developed in the ensuing extended deferral period.

Not knowing what harmonized rate design will be implemented potentially ten years from now is not, in my respectful opinion, a shortfall or a weakness with respect to the application that is before you.

Rather, this is a reality facing any regulated utility, that future rates are matters for future proceedings.  Flexibility in respect of rebasing and harmonization of rates is what is required, and is what the Board's new policy recognizes.

I want to turn briefly to a topic of what the no harm test is not about.  What the no harm test is not about was confirmed in the Norfolk and Cambridge decisions, and that is it is not relevant for the Board to consider whether the purchase price has been set at an appropriate level.  The only consideration is whether the purchase price is at a level which would create a financial burden for the acquiring entity.

In the Norfolk proceeding, the Board agreed that a premium of $39.1 million would not have a material impact on Hydro One Inc., whose total asset base was $20.8 billion pursuant to its 2012 audited financial statements.

Similarly, the premium which Hydro One Inc. proposes to pay in relation to the current transaction will not have a material impact on it.  The premium which has been paid amounts to $14 million over rate base value, less than half of what was paid in the acquisition of Norfolk Power.

This amount, either in isolation or in aggregate with Hydro One's other acquisitions, gives rise to no reasonable expectation of financial impairment, given that Hydro One's current assets are some $21.6 billion pursuant to its 2013 financial statements.

The no harm test is also not about the process which led up to the transaction.  It does not consider the conduct of a seller, including the extent of its due diligence, or the degree of public consultation in relation to the transaction.

The combined decision is very clear on this point at pages 8 and 10, and the Norfolk decision also clearly stated that the no harm test is not about the conduct of the seller leading up to the transaction.

In the Norfolk decision, the Board also confirmed that the test is not about past acquisitions; historical transactions are not relevant to the Board's assessment under the no harm test.

And finally, the combined decision makes it clear that the no harm test does not consider whether another transaction, whether real or potential, can have a more positive effect than the one that has been negotiated to completion by the parties.

There is one other element I will touch upon, and that is the request for use of US GAAP.  Hydro One is requesting the Board's approval to use this method for accounting purposes in respect of Hydro One Woodstock.  This no longer appears to be a contentious issue, in light of the Board's approval of this request in the Norfolk transaction decision.

Hydro One requests to use US GAAP for Hydro One Woodstock, as this will simplify any future rate integration, will avoid incremental costs or productivity losses, and will facilitate Hydro One's reporting for security filing purposes.

In conclusion, Panel, the evidentiary record of this proceeding clearly demonstrates that the no harm test has been satisfied.  Mr. Bertolo's and Mr. Lee's evidence to you, this morning and on January 15th, was very clear.  WHSI ratepayers receive benefits from this transaction in the form of rate reductions and rate certainty.

Mr. Bertolo and Mr. Lee explained how Hydro One conducted its cost structure analysis using a with and without transaction, or status quo and Hydro One integration case.

Recall the testimony surrounding table 2 of the application in this regard.  The witnesses also explained why Hydro One's ratepayers are unaffected by this transaction, and that the premium paid is all to the account of Hydro One and not its ratepayers.

Intervenors have had the opportunity to ask Mr. Bertolo and Mr. Lee about evidence in this proceeding on both January 15th and today.  Overall, Hydro One submits that nothing particularly remarkable has emerged from this opportunity.  Instead, the evidence provided in the oral hearing of this application has opinion consistent with what was already on the record of the proceeding.  It's testing through oral cross-examination has not compromised or weakened the justification relied on by Hydro One for the Board granting its approval of this transaction.

Mr. Bertolo provided and stated why Hydro One believes the transaction is in the overall public interest.

The transaction will give rise to a large contiguous service area affording operational efficiencies.  Efficiencies relative to the status quo are expected in the management of the WHSI's assets given their similarity to those of Hydro One, the existing management programs that Hydro One uses, and the economies of scale and savings that are expected from integration.

All this results in downward pressure on cost structures, and these are important and logical benefits that demonstrate why this transaction is in the public interest.

And so taking all of this into account, Hydro One respectfully submits that the application before you meets the no harm test.  It is in the public interest and, therefore, it requests your expedited approval in accordance with the relief that is sought.

Subject to any questions you may have, those are the submissions of Hydro One.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Nettleton I would like to ask you one question.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sure.

MS. LONG:  You touched upon it in your submissions, and Mr. Bertolo spoke to it, the issue with respect to reporting.

Mr. Bertolo highlighted to us that he views it as being, I guess -- I don't want to put words in his mouth, but he talked about duplication and how does that deal with efficiency, if the Board suddenly says that you have certain reporting requirements.

I guess what I am trying to reconcile and get my head around is if we have the utility like Woodstock, where you have 20,000 customers and they're going to become part of the Hydro One family with 1.2 million customers, how does this Panel assure ourselves that issues related to Woodstock Hydro are not lost?

I am thinking of SAIDI and SAIFI.  If we don't have separate reporting as to how those reliability markers are being tracked, if it just becomes part of a larger -- and I mean much larger here -- pool of customers, how does the Board satisfy itself in respect of the no harm test?

I am using reliability as an example.  But, I mean, here we have a case where we have a much smaller utility becoming part of a larger utility.

How do we satisfy ourselves that they don't get lost in the mix?

MR. NETTLETON:  I guess I would answer that through an observation, Madam Chair, and that is this.

If you're consolidating a group of customers into a larger organization like what is proposed, and the concern is what about those customers.  I guess the question is, can you find another pocket of customers that are already in the Hydro One family of companies, or in the Hydro One organization?  And are you, as a Board, prepared to look at that group of customers and use, you know, concern or look at the concerns that you're having with respect to Woodstock apply to the various 20,000 groups of other customers throughout the system?


The reality is consolidation means just that.  You're knocking down barriers and you are creating one entity.  And that's the reality of consolidation.  That's what's going to happen with respect to achieving efficiencies.

If those efficiencies operationally are going to happen, and it's going to come at some means of losing an otherwise distinct historical business unit, like a separate entity, that's par for the course.  That is what consolidation is going to have to be about.

If you're concerned about looking at Hydro One's reliability standards and whether they're meeting reliability metrics, and your concern now is on a regional basis or on a geographic basis, I think you're going to have to look at that on a broader scale, because it is no longer just about one customer group that is part of the Hydro One family.  It should be about parity amongst all customers.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rodger.
Closing Argument by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Well, I am pleased today to provide the argument in-chief of Woodstock Hydro and the city of Woodstock.

The transaction before you involves arm's length parties, a willing seller and a willing buyer who, by May of 2014, had concluded a share purchase agreement wherein the city agreed to sell all of its issued shares to Hydro One.

Now, I support and adopt the submissions of Hydro One as presented by Mr. Nettleton, but I did want to give some brief additional comments on a couple of areas.

As Mr. Nettleton described, the Board will be applying its no-harm test in determining whether to approve this application.  If you are satisfied that the transaction will not have an adverse impact on Woodstock or its customers, then the application will be approved.

And of the several categories that my friend just described, in terms of what you look to specifically in applying the test, I wanted to speak a little bit about the impact on prices, reliability and quality of electricity service, and promotion of economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness.

Now, as has been recognized, while you're not considering future rebasing in this proceeding to discharge the no-harm test, it is clear that assessing the cost structures is part of this application.

And I think it is without a doubt that in this application Woodstock ratepayers will receive immediate benefits from the distribution rate reduction and for the rate freeze five years post-closing, and then the price cap adjustments pursuant to the OEB's formulas from years six to ten.

And again, this is all anchored from Woodstock's 2014 base distribution rates.  So when some of the intervenors throughout this hearing have talked about comparables, certainly in our point of view Woodstock ratepayers are in a very good position to have that rate security over the years that have been described in this application.

So clearly, with respect to rates, distribution rates for Woodstock customers are going to be lower than they would be under the status quo scenario.

Secondly, any premium paid for the Woodstock Hydro shares will not be recoverable in future rates, as those future rates will be looking at costs going forward and do not include the purchase price premium.

And as Mr. Bertolo confirmed on page 17 and 18 of volume 1, Hydro One has no intention to recover the premium paid through rates, and Hydro One is taking the risk that efficiency savings will offset the premium being paid.

And in this transaction -- and there has been some confusion about this and, frankly, misinformation within the Woodstock community, but our view is clearly that Woodstock customers can be assured that the purchase price premium cost will not be covered through Woodstock distribution rates, either now or in the future.

You have heard from Mr. Nettleton concerning the OM&A cost differential between Woodstock Hydro and Hydro One of $181 versus $277 of Woodstock.  We believe that is a pertinent element for you to consider in looking at OM&A savings.

And the application does go into detail on efficiency benefits due to other things, geographic integration, economies of scale, integration of common and administrative management functions, and integrated planning of the distribution system.

Hydro One has stated that it's projecting OM&A savings of approximately $3 million per year and reductions in capital expenditures of approximately $1 million a year resulting from this transaction.

Just to highlight some of the quantitative and qualitative efficiencies that the city would point to under this application, for quantitative we have local area operating and capital savings resulting from a more efficient distribution system due to the elimination of what we consider to be an artificial electrical border.  These are now the benefits of continuity between the two systems.

In that regard, Mr. Bertolo stated that Woodstock is already served in part by both Woodstock Hydro and Hydro One and that Hydro One believes the consolidation can result and will result in a more efficient operation within this region.

Also, the savings due to elimination of redundant administrative and processing functions, back-office savings or scale efficiencies, and you have heard about the lower overall cost of debt upon refinancing of Woodstock Hydro's currently higher debt costs assumed in the transaction will be further enhanced by reduced capital spending requirements.

In terms of qualitative efficiencies, there will be continued employment for all staff of Woodstock Hydro, and you have heard today that that has actually been extended out an additional six months to approximately a year and a half, and that while roles may change, those jobs are still needed within the community.

The evidence also speaks to enhanced call centre service to customers through Hydro One's call centre operation centre, which offers 24/7 live outage reporting, web access, and smart-phone application for real-time outage information and estimated restoration time, and you have also heard about savings in recruitment, training, and staff development costs, which will flow from this transaction.

Based on all of this information, Woodstock submits that the acquisition is likely to have an overall downward impact on Woodstock's OM&A costs compared to the status quo.

We also believe that there will be no reduction in the reliability and quality of electrical service to Woodstock customers, and we have touched on a number of areas which show that.

Finally, if this transaction is approved as said it will result in a single electric distribution service provider for the city of Woodstock and the surrounding geographic area, and the current boundaries will be eliminated.

Woodstock submits that this will ultimately result in greater economic efficiency, cost-effectiveness, through greater economies of scale and enhanced efficiencies.

As Mr. Bertolo testified at page 20 of transcript volume 1, this transaction is consistent with the overarching Ontario government policy, favouring distributor consolidation, which this Board itself had regard to in promulgating the March 26th policy.  And in essence, that policy is about cost reduction, eliminating duplication, increasing efficiencies, and ultimately serving customers better in what we know is a changing technological and operational environment.

On the matter of the earnings sharing mechanism and the interpretation of that policy from your March 26th new policy, I just wanted to add that it shouldn't be surprising that that question has come up in this proceeding, because this, to my knowledge, is the first MAAD application under which the policy has been applied.

And what I say as follows is really meant to assist the Board in light of the discussion that happened today.  But I can tell you that the city of Woodstock certainly interpreted the policy as presented by Hydro One, and the Board will be aware that I have been and continue to be very active in the consolidation front.  I am involved in multiple transactions at the moment.  And those parties are also interpreting it the same way as Hydro One.

And frankly, I think there would be a great deal of shock if the policy was interpreted that it applied to the acquired entity rather than the consolidated entities' ROE, which is clearly and expressly stated in the policy.

So in terms of this policy, our view is that it was a very positive step forward from the Board.  The extended period for deferral is helpful for shareholders, who now have a longer period of time to reach the scale and scope efficiencies, and the earnings sharing mechanism beyond that for the consolidated entity, as the Board said itself, that provides a benefit to shareholders and also to ratepayers so they are protected.

So in conclusion, Madam Chair, for all of the foregoing reasons, Woodstock respectfully submits that the Board should approve the requested relief in order for the LDC ownership to be transferred to Hydro One and to allow the benefits of this transaction to be implemented.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger, for your submissions.  We have no questions.  So we thank you, Mr. Rodger, for your submissions today, Mr. Nettleton, for your submissions, and Board Staff, thank you for your assistance today.  We are adjourned.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, just one thing.  I'd just like to -- I was remiss, and I didn't thank the court reporter for her assistance throughout the process and Board Staff, so I just wanted to say words of thanks.

MS. LONG:  Well, thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:44 p.m.
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